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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019 (the “Year”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

For the Year, the Group recorded gross proceeds from disposal
of securities of approximately HK$56.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 81.0%, as compared to the amount
of approximately HK$295.1 million for the last year. The Group
recorded in revenue of approximately HK$95,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 89.5% as compared to the amount
of approximately HK$0.9 million for the last year. The Company
recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year amounted to approximately HK$86.2 million (2018:
approximately HK$1,041.7 million). The audited consolidated
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$309.0 million (2018: approximately HK$409.1
million). The net asset per share of the Group was amounted
to approximately HK$0.14 (2018: approximately HK$0.18). The
decrease in net asset value per share of the Company over
the Year was principally resulted from the total comprehensive
expense attributable to owners of the Company for the Year of
approximately HK$86.2 million, and net effect of expected credit
losses for all debtors and other receivables, and investment in
securities of approximately HK$15.7 million, recognized as at 1
April 2018 by offsetting against the accumulated losses as at 1
April 2018 directly, and partial reversal of the expected credit
losses of approximately HK$2.8 million during the Year.

The Group’s net loss decreased from net loss approximately
HK$1,041.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to net loss
approximately HK$86.2 million for the Year mainly attributable
to decrease of loss on listed securities of approximately HK$1.1
billion for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$57.4
million for the Year.

TEERESEARAR (AR REKEARA
(R IAEEDE=(E5)g([E=2g])MARQ
HAREERBE_T-NF=A=+—HLEFE (K
FREZEEGRAFE-

EEENWR DN

MBS

REAFE AEERGHEEFFMERELELY
56,100,000/% JT * & % £ £9295,100,0005% 7T 5 4 49
81.0% ° NE B 828 I 495,000 0 BEEF 4
900,000/ 7T 2 4989.5% - R A FEE - AR A8 15
AR R A A JE (L E5 18 4986,200,0008 L (=T — N\
4 1 #91,041,700,000%870) - AEBR T —NLF=A
=T —HWMEEZLESEEFEEL309,000,000%
JL (ZF — )\ : #7409,100,000/8 7T ) - A EFERE
EFEANOAABIL(ZTE—NF 40185 L) - K
REE ARRIGREEFERSEIZRAALARAGME
B AEML A FE 2 458 4986,200,0007 7T BA
ER-ZZ—N\FHNA—HEBREEEHE T \FHN
B—RZ R E1E R 2 BT A FE MR 51 % H b FE U
FIERFEHFEE 2 TBHEEE18415,700,000/% 7t 61
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AEEEBEBEFEREE T - \F=ZA=+—H1
FEZEEFEEL1,041,700,000 TR D = A F
£ 7 5518 % %8 4986,200,0008 7 T B M M £ M &
SEERBEE T \EF-AZ=ZT-BLEEEZY
1,100,000,0007% 7T % 2 2 AN € 2 #957,400,0007% 7T
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Investment Review
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s major investments were as

REDE
RIB-NF=ZA=+—HB FEEZFEZRENT:

follows:

Investments Description

RE Bt

Listed equities HK$171.2 million of a portfolio of listed shares in 33 companies
EmpRA P33 A 7,2171,200,0007% 75 LT (5 40 &

Direct investment in unlisted equities HK$62.0 million in 3 direct investments in unlisted equities securities
RIELETRAZBERE BIEIE L TIRARE 5 2 B 1K & 162,000,000/8 7T

Total HK$233.2 million

A&t 233,200,0007% 7T

The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2019 of the Group mainly
comprises of unlisted securities and listed securities in Hong
Kong and China. The value of investment portfolio of the Group
is of approximately HK$233.2 million. As a whole, the portfolio
was carefully managed and being fully diversified to minimise
commercial risk resulting from over concentration of the investment
of the Group in any single industry.

Top Ten Investments
In respect of the Group’s top ten investments as at 31 March 2019,
set out below are certain information on those investments:

R-E-NF=ZA=t+—HB AEEREESTEMR
BERTPEFETRERSFE ETESFAR - ARBZEK
B AEEXR233,200,0008 T-EfgM s - KEE
ARBEERESAGRZ T/ REREREEBS
SFRERE-TEMAREZBERAR -

TARE
HAEEER-_B-NF=ZA=+—HZTREREME "
RERBEZETEMEIWT:
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”)

Peak Zone principally engages in the electronic commerce industry
specializing on the provision of integrated application, which can
be deployed by its customers on a modular or selective basis,
offering flexibility in budget and choice. For the twelve months
ended 31 March 2019, the unaudited consolidated net profit
attributable to equity holders of Peak Zone was approximately
HK$2.4 million. Peak Zone is beginning to develop its business
in Eastern China area and continuing the development of related
and advanced systems to provide more comprehensive services to
increase its revenue. The Company expects Peak Zone having a
high growth potential.

Wingate Holdings Limited (“Wingate”)

Wingate is principally engaged in provision of money lending
business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the
unaudited consolidated net profit attributable to equity holders of
Wingate was approximately HK$4 million. Wingate believes that
fund raising market and the financial activities in Hong Kong will
remain stable in long-term and the money lending business will be
able to leverage its financial resources. The Company expects that
Wingate will bring us a constant positive return.

Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”)

Prominent Alliance is principally engaged in dealing in securities,
advising on securities and asset management. For the year ended
31 March 2019, the unaudited consolidated net loss attributable
to equity holders of Prominent Alliance was approximately
HK$4.7 million. Prominent Alliance believes that China’s overall
development trend remains strong and Hong Kong as a foreign
investment gateway of China will continue to be benefited,
especially in the investment market. Accordingly, the Company
expects Prominent Alliance will bring us positive economic return.

In addition to three unlisted investments above, the Group held
seven significant equity investments listed on either the main board
or GEM of the Stock Exchange as follows:

Peak Zone Group Limited ([ Peak Zone |)
Peak Zone T ZWEEFHBEF FINEHESH
AR ATHEEEFEERSGEZELEE BE
BERRENBEEE -REE-_T—NAEF=A=+—
Bit+ =@ B  Peak Zone##ziiFH AL REEZ
478 7% % A 4 52,400,000 7T » Peak Zone [ERIZAR
ERMERREER WESREHABLERS IR
HEXEARY Mg MERA - KA ] 78 H Peak
Zone BHEABREKIERE

Wingate Holdings Limited ([ Wingate |)

Wingate T ZRH ERHREXEBF - REBEEZE T -\ F
TZA=+—HIEMBFEE Wingate Bz 5B A JE
1B RES T ZER S F % F 4 54,000,000 7T ° Wingate
HE REMSEENEASEETME LRI B
BRERE NEEBEEATO>FNAEMBER-AAQ
A]7EHiWingate i B M K IFEM I EE L3R -

Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent
Alliance J)

Prominent Alliance T ZREBHR 5 s EBHIEHE
AREBEEBE -BE-_T—hAhGF=ZA=+—8LEE"
Prominent Alliance # & 5 8 A JE(E RS EZZEE FE
18 %) 44,700,000/ 7T ° Prominent Alliance 2 & F
MEBEBERBBERABYEEBELATENINEMS
BRENPZ G CEHREREMS Bt AR AE
HiProminent Alliance i#§ /3 Tk {7175 2K 18 1k 89 45 /75 [0 3R

frE =R LHREIN REBRB XA ERL
GEMBAELHEEAX LHRARE HBFHIMT -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
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China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (“China
e-Wallet”, stock code: 802)

China e-Wallet is principally engaged in provision of biometric and
RFID products and solution services. The audited consolidated
loss attributable to shareholders of China e-Wallet for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was approximately HK$46.8 million.
The management of China e-Wallet believe that the business of
“Internet and Mobile’s Application and Related Accessories” as a
key growth area, is in-line with the rapid growth of the mobile and
gaming industry and in particular in application development for
merchants, online gaming, interactive virtual reality experience
and utilities applications for mobile platform and mass advertising.
Taking global growth of the mobile and gaming industry in these
few years, the management of the Company believes China
e-Wallet’s business having an attractive outlook, but will closely
monitor the implementation its business strategies, so as to assess
it value to the Group.

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”, stock code: 8021)

WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding and
fitting out services, and other services for construction and
buildings work, money lending business, securities brokerage and
margin financing and securities investment business and assets
management business. The audited consolidated loss attributable
to shareholders of WLS for the year ended 30 April 2018 was
approximately HK$110 million. WLS’s patented scaffolding system,
which is known as “Pik-Lik”, has played a crucial role in saving
manpower and enhancing efficiency during the Year and as one
of the leading scaffolding service providers in Hong Kong, the
Group receives positive feedback and prominent business support.
In addition, based on the HKSAR’s land supply forecast and a
number of large-scale infrastructure projects have been carried out
to boost the construction industry, WLS is confident about acquiring
more contracts. In view of the bright prospect of construction
industry in Hong Kong, the management of the Company believes
WLS will generate profit to the Group in medium term.

FEREXNRESTRARF ([FEEKE]
10 K55 - 802)

oh B 8% 0 B R G BRI K RFID E & KRR
HRBH -RBE—T-—N\GF+_A=+—BLEFE"
oh B $% B 2 AR 3R 1 45 B i 45 A B 18140 5346,800,000
B HBOEREIRED Y REETERERER
Mg A TEMERFRERER RANERNE] A
SHEER UABR GBS XEXERRER
BURBHFaMEAEAREARARESREER
BARNERBREL -ZRIOLFBHRBERITE
MERER ARRAEEBAETERONELAR
BARR HEBDERALERBORBER A
GACES SR SE ]

ERZERERAR (DEE] RO 8021)

EREFENETRUMEBEREERE UREME
EREFIRE REEY BHEELERRIBSRER
BHEREEBREEEBER REBEE-T—N\FHO
B=1tRLEFE EREZBRREEEEZEEBRY
£110,000,0008 T EREESEFWH [FE]I MER
FRAFEHHEANRRRBEEETHRIER
BEAREBELHMERBRME ZEERIKESZ
RERBENEBZF LN EREBFRITHRE
W EEBAREERS @AM EEEB NIRRE
EE ERBELIESEZAN -ENBBEEHE
RIRAA ARG EEBREEESARTHANYERE
B E AR F
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
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Amuse Group Holding Limited (“Amuse”, stock code:
8545)

Amuse is principally engaged in design, marketing, distribution
and retail sales of toys and related products. For the financial year
ended 31 March 2019, the audited consolidated profit attributable
to owners of Amuse was approximately HK$15.1 million. Amuse
will focus on expanding its own licensed toy products and
original design manufacturer toys and strengthening its overseas
distribution network which will bring long-term, stable and high
returns to their supporters and shareholders based on the existing
stable foundation. The management of the Company considers

Amuse having an attractive business potential.

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”,
stock code: 397)

Power Financial is principally engaged in business of financial
services, asset management and investment and money lending.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of Power Financial
was approximately HK$437 million. Power Financial managed
to execute its plan of divestment while tapping into the bond
investment sector, which has become a new source of stable and
fixed interest income. They also expanded its loan portfolio from
money lending operations, which has generated considerable
interest income. All these efforts offset the negative impacts
brought about by the declining performance of margin financing
operations during the year ended 31 December 2018. The
management of the Company will closely monitor Power Financial
to assess its business development potential.

BEYREEZRERAR ([{EMK] - BRI :
8545)

BHEFERERT MHELEHE 2>HEEETETARE
BER RBE-_FT-—NF=A=+—HLHBFE"
B2 EB ANEIHEEZLRERT4 515,100,000
ToERBERIRBERAERETTANE R RER
ErREET AW RGN NS HES EHNIEE
FROEARE AEYBEARRRTRERE BRERK
SEENERK AR EEEBERABEHESE ARSI H
BEB -

BRSEMEBERARE (HRASH ] ROKRK:
397)

RESRIZEBREBRE EEETERKREN
EBRE-RBE_ZT-N\F+-_A=+t—-BLFK
FE BEEESRZEREERELZECBROA
437,000,000 7T - EL & B M ITEBEF &) X
TABFRERM  HERARE N WA R AR -
ZARTEAREELSENERAS EMELTE
WA BBA - WEZBNKDEHBE_FT—N\F+ =
H:+*H¢¢FﬁE@§%@§ﬁTﬁ&%WEE

FE-ARNREEERBYERERSR NFMHE
%%%Eﬁﬁo
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
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China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33”, stock code:
8087)

China 33 is a dominant channel media provider in railway
sector. For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of China
33 was approximately HK$35 million. China 33 believes that
with the growing popularity of online entertainment platforms,
film viewership number will be even more optimistic. They are
committed to deliver quality entertainment content and will
continue seeking cooperation opportunities with other studios to
co-invest in various film projects. According to the rapid growth
on the payment system, China 33 decides to launching e-wallet
and collaborating with quality business partners to extend
usage occasions of the products creatively and diversifying their
distribution channels continues to be the key strategies. With
the supporting infrastructure developed by the authority in place
and the effective products and marketing strategies, China 33
believes to achieve satisfactory results in 2019 and contribute to
the Group’s sustainable growth. The management of the Company
believes that China 33’s growth will continue in short to medium

terms, but will closely monitor its financial performance.

China National Culture Group Limited (“CNC”, stock
code: 745)

CNC is principally engaged in the properties investment, money
lending and financial services. For the year ended 31 March
2018, the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of
CNC was approximately HK$358.7 million. The management of
CNC intended to expand its existing services such as continued
development of advertising and e-commerce related businesses
and expansion of advertising and e-commerce related business
through acquisition and/or co-operation and to look for business
opportunities that would generate long-term returns to its
shareholders. The management of the Company has been closely
monitoring the business development of CNC and will make

appropriate investment/divestment decisions when appropriate.

FE==6EHEEEERARA([HFEA==] K
5% : 8087)
FE-C-AEETENTIERERBHER -RNEE
T N\E+-_A=+—ALFBEFEE FER==
[I% 3R FE 1 48 B 1% 47 & 5 18 4Y /535,000,000 7T © A B
SoHE BEARIRETFATHER EFEIA
HEEZ AR NRREERREENREND T
BESKEEIMTEZENEGERS EARBESHESE
FHEE AEINEGHRRERE FE=-=REH
HEFROREBENEBEIERLAE Al
HWREGNEASE FEIBEREESHELNREHE
REE - BEERHAENEEERIENINVUARE
MEERRLIHER PE=ZZHEBEE-_S—LF
HMEMAZEE AEEMABERRELER -AAQ
FAEEEMRRE TEZ=Z8RPEHRFEEE
BEYERET BRI -

TEBRXXCEXEBERAB ([FRBERX
fEEXR] RHMKK:745)
THERXLEXTIEREFHERE WENMA
BEB - RMBE_ZT-\F=ZA=1tT—BLFE ¥
BEZXCEXZEREARGRECEABROR
358,700,000/ 7T ° FEIBR (L EXEEE A EEX
HBEEMRS (I EEREEREFABHEBEY
AREBKRBE FAERRESREFEKHEBE
B USKASERREREHQBOEEE S K
ARERE-HTIVEETRBRULERNERE
B Y ERELIRENRE TERE -
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China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“Jicheng”, stock code:
1027)

Jicheng is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale
of POE umbrellas, nylon umbrellas and umbrella parts such as
plastic cloth and shaft. For the financial year ended 31 December
2018, the audited consolidated profit attributable to shareholders
of Jicheng was approximately HK$19 million. The management
of Jicheng intends to maintain and strengthen its position as a
leading umbrella manufacturer focused in Japan market and its
own branded umbrella products in the PRC market, and increase
its market share in the existing markets such as Hong Kong,
Cambodia and South Korea. Also, Jicheng will shift business
focus from development upstream manufacturing to downstream
distribution network and brand building so as to facilitate promotion
of the Group’s branded umbrellas which command higher margins
and create higher values as well as bringing better return to the
shareholders. The management of the Company recognises
Jicheng’s business strategies and believes that Jicheng’s growth
will continue.

Performance of The Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed securities of approximately HK$57.4 million
for the Year represented net realised loss in disposal of listed
securities of approximately HK$26.1 million and net unrealised loss
of listed securities of approximately HK$31.3 million. Set out below
are further information of these net realised and unrealised losses:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$26.1 million represented the realised gain of
approximately HK$4.4 million net of realised loss of approximately
HK$30.5 million.

The realised loss principally represented:

Company name Stock code
CEE ] R4 155
Suncorp Technologies Limited 1063
MR BR A A

Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company Limited 8291

EREBERAERAT

PEERERERLA (TEKR] RO MRHE:
1027)

EXNFTERSHERFEEPOERL EENEARE
THM mBEHARRE- RBEEZT—N\F+=ZA
S+ —HUEVRFE SRZBREBLHEEZSE T
F#) /19,000,000 T EXEREREFLERH
ERBAMERAMUEERTEMSZEERERRR
BB UARBERAERES REEREHE
BAEMSBSzMmEOHE - WIN ERFEHBELEER
EHREEBET RO HEAERREERAEEREE
MEERs S8 RERL AEEZEE UKE
ARRFRELEER B - ANAREEERREKNE
RS WAREEKBFELR-

AEBLETRESFZ2RE

AN % B 18 4957,400,000/8 T 15 H & £ F
H 2 B#IREIBF5426,100,0008 Lk EEHZ
ok 2 35 5 18 JF B8 4931,300,000/8 T - BRI 5 B # 1R
RABRAEBEBFENEZERFEIET

HELTEFRZEEHERFHE
HE EmES 223 EEFE426,100,000% 7T
BB ZIH 4,400,000 TR EZREELY

30,500,000/ T °
BEEREBETERE:

Investment Disposal Realised
costs consideration loss
RERAE HERE 5y:$5) -
HKS$ million HKS$ million HK$ million
B&Z%T B &% BEET
17.7 1.8 16.4
9.5 4.0 5.5
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Net Unrealised Loss of Listed Securities

The net unrealised loss of approximately HK$31.3 million
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$37.2 million
net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$68.5 million.

Walrsl o e 3 20 7 e
REHREEFEL31,300,0008 THERER KR
37,200,00078 7T Ak 7 & 31 &5 18 4068,500,00078 T ©

The unrealised gain principally represented: REBRWREER:
Unrealised
Company name Stock code gain
NCIEE R 43R 5% RER W
HK$ million
B ZET
Suncorp Technologies Limited 1063 S
MER B R AR
China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited 1380 9.7
PESABEXEERBR AT
The unrealised loss principally represented: REEEEETER:
Unrealised
Company name Stock code loss
AREE R4 R 5% REBREBIE
HK$ million
A&
China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited 802 17.8
HEEEXNEEGERAA
Power Financial Group Limited 397 13.7
ERTHERBR AR
China 33 Media Group Limited 8087 7.5
hE==EHEEEEFRAA
Amuse Group Holding Limited 8545 5.3
BUEEZERER AR
Note: Hrat

The shares of all the companies mentioned under Performance of The
Group’s Listed Securities were listed on either main board or GEM of the
Stock Exchange during the Year.

Performance of The Group’s Unlisted Securities

The Group’s did not dispose of any unlisted securities and
recorded net unrealised loss of unlisted securities of approximately
HK$17.3 million during the Year. This net unrealised loss
represented unrealised gain of HK$3.0 million, net of unrealised
loss of approximately HK$20.3 million, which principally consisted
of the valuation loss on the Group’s investment in Prominent
Alliance Limited of approximately HK$15.0 million.

AEBLETREBFIREBTHAEZMRFANRONANEEE
Bt 32 P AR 3 GEM £

AEBMFLTRFZRE
RAFE  AEBYRHEEMAIELTES REGE

I8 548 0% 58 45 K 28 U0 253,000,000 7T I BR K B IR
E5184920,300,0008 7T © = Z B E A& B K Prominent
Alliance Limited % & 2 {th {8 /& 18 4915,000,000/% 7T °
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Segmental Information

There is no material change in the Group’s investment segment,
principally investment in listed and unlisted securities, during the
Year.

Price Risk

The Group is exposed to financial assets price risks as investments
held by the Group are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position as equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss as at 31 March 2019 and financial assets held for trading
and available-for-sale financial assets as at 31 March 2018.
To manage its price risk arising from investments in the above
financial assets, the Group diversifies its portfolio. If the financial
assets price of the respective investments held by the Group as
financial assets held for trading were higher or lower by 5% as at
31 March 2019, the Group’s loss for the year would decrease or
increase by approximately HK$7.1 million (2018: HK$7.5 million)
respectively. If the price of the investments held by the Group as
financial assets with non-trading in nature were higher or lower by
5% as at 31 March 2019 (2018: 5%), the Group’s equity as at 31
March 2019 would decrease or increase by approximately HK$3.1
million (2018: HK$5.1 million) respectively.

Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty, developed economies are
beginning to have signs of recovery, but the developing economies
also have trends of adjustment. Meanwhile, China is also facing a
slowdown in economic growth, economic structure has undergone
significant changes during the transition from medium to long term,
crisis and opportunities coexist.

The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities and listed securities with high potential in order to
diversify further market risk.
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Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had margin payables to financial
institutions of approximately HK$3.9 million (2018: HK$7.0 million).
The Group had bank balances and cash on hand of approximately
HK$12.7 million (2018: HK$35.4 million), which was mainly placed
in bank and other financial institutions as deposits. As the Group
held listed securities of approximately HK$171.2 million as at 31
March 2019 (2018: HK$180.5 million), which is around 44.1 times
(2018: 25.8 times) of the margin payable value, the Board consider
the Company’s liquidity position is still healthy as at 31 March
2019.

Gearing Ratio
The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 1.3% (2018: 1.8%).

Capital Structure

The Company did not run any capital exercise during the Year.
During the Year, the share capital of the Company remained
unchanged and comprised of 2,257,666,000 issued share capital
with par value of HK$0.05 each. The Group had margin payables
of approximately HK$3.9 million as at 31 March 2019 which bear
interest rates ranged from 8.0% to 11.0% (2018: 8.0% to 10.0%)
per annum. The margin payables are in Hong Kong Dollars, and
secured by listed investments of the Group, repayable on demand
and are guaranteed by the Company on behalf of subsidiaries.
In view of such immaterial amount of the margin payables in
Hong Kong Dollars as compared to the Group’s listed stocks
of approximately HK$171.2 million, the Company considers the
currency and interest rate risks exposure of its debt and obligation
are manageable.

Significant Investments

Significant investments of the Group are included in the Group’s
top ten investments as detailed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements and pages 5 to 10 of this Annual Report.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company does not
have any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had retained ten
employees (2018: ten employees). Total staff costs of the Group,
excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year under review
amounted to approximately HK$2.8 million (2018: approximately
HK$1.4 million). Staff remuneration packages were in line with the
prevailing market practice and were determined on the basis of the
performance and experience of individual employee.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has pledged listed securities of
approximately HK$14.5 million (2018: HK$37.5 million) to secure
the margin payables of approximately HK$3.9 million (2018:
HK$7.0 million). The Group did not have significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC, which
are financed internally. In order to mitigate the potential impact
of currency fluctuations, the Group closely monitors its foreign
currency exposures and will use suitable hedging instruments
against significant foreign currency exposures, where necessary.
No foreign currency hedge contract was entered into by the
Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2018: Nil).

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year

As at 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this Annual Report
approved, the Company does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group
and within the knowledge of its directors, the board of directors
confirms that the Group has complied with the public float
requirement of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March
2019.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF

SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2019, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting,
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 55, was appointed
as an executive Director on 8 March 2011. He is one of the
responsible officers of China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited.
Mr. Chan is currently a licensed person to carry out type 1
(dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts),
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of the University of South Florida in the
United States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in
securities, fund management, corporate management, corporate
finance and managing listed investment companies under Chapter
21 of the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China Innovation
Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), China Investment
Development Limited (stock code: 204), Capital VC Limited (stock
code: 2324), China New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80),
National Investments Fund Limited (stock code: 1227) and China
Trends Holdings Limited (stock code: 8171). All these companies
are listed on either the main board or GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIAO Jintian (“Mr. Liao”), aged 50, has been a non-executive
Director since 23 March 2012. Mr. Liao is a council member of the
China National Furniture Association (FFBIZX B & ) , an executive
committee member of Shunde Gong Shan Lian (JBfE T8t (42
€ ) ), a vice-president of Shunde Furniture Association ( JEf=
REWE), a vice-president of Shunde Longjiang Chamber ()&
28I ) and a director of the Longjiang Charity Association.
Mr. Liao is also the executive director and legal representative
of Guangdong Xie Feng Financial Guarantee Co., Ltd. (B &%
LEEEMRABR LA, the chairman and legal representative of
Guangdong Jingongzi Trading and Economic Development Co.,
Lid. (ERE A FLEERABMRAA) . Mr. Liao has over 15 years
of experience in wide scope of businesses including trading,
finance, property development and project investment.

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 35, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

Mr. FONG On Shek (“Mr. Fong”), aged 74, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 19 July 2017. He has
over 20 years’ solid experience in senior management positions in
various industries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since November 2016, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
Thoth Investment Management Limited (formerly known as
Qianhai Capital Asia Limited). During the periods from July 2014
to November 2016 and from February 2011 to November 2013,
Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of W. Falcon Asset Management
(Asia) Limited and Capital Focus Asset Management Limited
respectively. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder and responsible
officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period of 2000 to
2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity portfolios.
Mr. Luk was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 640),
a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since November 2013.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin (“Ms. Liu”), aged 34, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is
currently the assistant to the general manager of a China based
investment company. She has over 5 years solid investment and
management experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon"), aged 36, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with 10 years of professional practice
experience. He possess solid finance and accounting knowledge.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of FY
Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s turnover
and results were mainly derived from the interest income and
dividend income from investment holding. The directors consider
that these activities constitute one and the only business segment
since these transactions are subject to common risks and returns.
The management monitors the operating results of its business
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the Group’s
operation is investment holding, it is not considered meaningful to
provide a business segment analysis of operating losses. Details of
the segment information are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 53 to 56 and page
130. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the years ended 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

Annual R rt
2018/19 a ;p"iﬁ

EXgRUERAEERBE_ZT-NF=H=1+—
BULEFEZFREEECHBERE -

IRXRH
ARRZEBEBAREZR -WBRARNZEEEH
RBFERRBERR-

2 HE
RBE_Z-NFR-_ZF-\F=ZA=1T—HLFE"
AEBEERBEREETBEREREZEBRZFERAR
BREWA-BZRR BRZRFEXHAXARAR R
CH AZEEHEXNE - RE—XBED-EH
BEREB REEEUNERERDERRIRFTMAIE
HRE - ERAEERLERBUEL DIREER  #3t
REEBRHEEBOLOINBEETIR - D MER 2 &
BHEN A M BEMKRM I

FEEXEFRMHER
MR AEEERDREER QL EEEaAEEE
ErEBEFRMEEZ AR

RERNBD B

AEBRE-T-AFZAS+ BLFEZEER
AEMRARRRZE ZRRBNEE3EEF56H K
BINVEZHMBERR -EEERATTRAE-F—N
FZAS+-ALFEZRE (ZE—N\F TEL) -

19



20

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
B OB Kk B R £ B 3 B 2 #H

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved
and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless
otherwise cancelled or amended subject to resolution passed at
general meeting of the Company the Option Scheme will remain in
force for ten years from 29 August 2013. As at 31 March 2019, the
remaining life of the Option Scheme was approximately 4 years
and 5 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company subject to
options granted during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue for any time being.

& <
AEBBRARFRAZEHFBHNGE B REM T
24 o

B

ARRzRBEBEREFE IR _T—=F/\A=-1TAh
BRETZERRBFRE EERRIRZE R A RRR
(MEREFE]) BIESTRARABRRRE LEB
RERTHIER BRIBREAESE T —=F
NAZTHhBEFTFEFA-—EBEER - R_F-NAF=
A=1+—R BREAINFSKFRO/ODFAM@A -

BRETISAEMRZEE (EERTX)RAKEEL
MERARRRAAEENEMELNFES HRE
FIRHAE KRR -

BREFE AER2EE ([28F]))BERER
BEAECERERBREZASEETAZER (B
BARASEMMBARZEFNES TwRATHIE
WIT RIARELRBL) REETSREABHNBRRE
REAEHAKEHFERREBRZEM D HA AEE-
EBRBRH BEA RBEER TP HER &H
A REBMBERSEMAL

ERBTERRARREARAEZBERLT  ()BATTRE
RIRBRET B RARR 2 AR ERES ST
BHZEHEREMAIEEHITZRNDAETESERRN
RERALEBRERTEE B 2 AR ARMD 210% : & (ii)
WER+ZERPHETES2BEREERESS
BRzERE(BEETERRITEBRE) ME#IT
REFHETZERRHMBE (EEBBEARRARZEM
Hih BAET SN AR BREFMS R Z AR
AMEMR D EFTER) NEMRERHETEBBERQFE
BTN 21% °



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, or any of their respective associates under the
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s
share options during the year:

TREJNARBRAFEAZBRIEZE) :

Lapsed/
Granted Exercised Cancelled
Exercise Outstanding during during during Outstanding
Category Date of grant Exercisable period price  at1.4.2018 the year the year the year at 31.3.2019
RZZB-N\F R-Z-n¥
mA—H XEER =ZA=t-H
5l R AH Cig:d: TEE WATE AEERARY REERTHE  ARHEH i AT B
HK$
BT
Director
s
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee ~ 7.3.2019 7.3.2019 - 6.3.2020 0.050 - 22,500,000 - - 22,500,000
REZLE —Z-NE=AtH —Z-NEZRAtHZE
—EZZF=RH
Mr. FONG On Shek 7.3.2019 7.3.2019 - 6.3.2020 0.050 - 22,500,000 - - 22,500,000
ARAKE —Z-NE=A+H —Z-NEZRtHZE
—EZZF=RH
Employees 7.3.2019 7.3.2019 - 6.3.2020 0.050 - 135,000,000 - - 135,000,000
=1 “Z-NE=AtH —2-NF=ZAR+tAZ
ZT-THZRKH
Advisors 9.11.2017 9.11.2017 - 8.11.2019 0.085 225,000,000 - - - 225,000,000
B ZE—+F+-ANB ZE—tE+-ANBE
ZZ-NET-ANR
Total FoE 225,000,000 180,000,000 - - 405,000,000

Up to the date of this Annual Report, 405,000,000 Options are
still outstanding. There were 45,766,000 Shares, representing
approximately 2.03% of the total issued share capital of the
Company, available for issue under the Option Scheme as at the
date of this Annual Report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
57 of this report and other details of the reserves of the Group is
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out
of the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available
for distribution comprise the share premium, accumulated profits
and valuation reserve derived from the available-for-sale financial
assets. In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2019
were approximately HK$191,430,000.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
January 2019. The Company endeavours to maintain adequate
working capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and to provide stable and sustainable return to the shareholders of
the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans
of the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory
restrictions which the Group is subject to from time to time and any
other relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends
may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/ or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LIAO Jintian

Mr. WU Qi

Mr. FONG On Shek

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. LIAO Jintian, Mr. WU Qi and Mr. FONG On Shek
shall retire by rotation. All retiring Directors being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives in the ordinary shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ”) (including interest which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO)), as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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Number of shares

vl 4=
Approximate
percentage of
Name of Director Personal interest Corporate interest Total shareholding
BExpns B AR NRER &t REBANBEIE
Mr. LIAO Jintian 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 0.22%

Save as disclosed above and the share options held by certain
Directors as detailed on page 22, none of the directors and chief
executives had any interests in equity or debt securities of the
Company or of any of its associated corporations which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2019, to the best knowledge of the Board and
chief executives of the Company, the following persons (other than
any directors or chief executive of the Company) were substantial
shareholders of the Company and had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

TREEEEER (LB)ARAA
HEREEEER (LE)ARDF

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other person (other than directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or a short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO as at 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in the process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company as soon as
practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES
For the year ended 31 March 2019, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” on pages 4 to 15.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the
Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-corruption
practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty, integrity
and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by all
employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.
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We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.

Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 20 to 22 and note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 132.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Annual R rt
2018/19 a ;p"iﬁ

BMZBEI2MEMARAEBNHT S REME
B RMETERIES BEEEREE TER
R B R EEE B Y R 4f 1

HtESHKER
ARBBBXFRAKRBERENHETREEREZH
B BHERMENAREER BRMEEXBE

=

I2EETTE RRALERKRE -

=
=

JR s 5 89 15 5
BRAREF20E228 MR A M B MKRME25KEZ
ARBBERETEIN ARARREAFERET LSS
KA LR ERARABITROKEBRAR BRI LA
7 & 2 A e & BN R B 1T A ) AR 88 15 5
NERBHERAFERETE-

BrBEERE
AEBEEEERANSAHEREENLEELER
BZBRE REARRBERLOIARERRREZHE
# R AD -

LEMBERE
AEEEEURAERABZ AFHHHEFBERRN
BB - HBY TAKEERESHBRERZ B

,T/\ o

BRE &5
ARRECEEESBIFATESTRE LWHRA
BIBRELZFEBISNERE YRAZEE
UHPTERHABBLHG

29



30 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
B OB Kk B R £ B 3 B 2 #H

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in the process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company as soon as
practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board comprises
a total of seven Directors, with one executive Director, three
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2019. Mr. LIAO Jintian, a non-executive
Director, is the Chairman of the Board. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.

Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

None of the existing non-executive Directors of the Group is
appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from
the code provision A.4.1 of the Code. However, one-third of the
Directors of the Company (both executive and non-executive) are
subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting
under the articles of association of the Group. As such, the Group
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Group’s corporate governance practices are similar to those in
the Code.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.
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Pursuant to Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March
2019, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board convened
a total of 11 meetings included in which was one meeting held
among the non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings
in persons or through other means of electronic communication
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the
year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.

RETUNEAESK EFE2EFEFTXERAE
F B BT EL AN R A BE - I T RE AR 1R S AR AL 1B AR R
MRATHESESELER - RBEE_T-NF=H
ST HLEFE 2BEFCEB2MBARREH
REEZRERETHEBZEIRZREERBEE
DETEEZRHREBEEREREY-

TR
[1] ?& ?’u?é

EEP2HNEBRAEEZEEE MEFSHK
EAKEREMNSZARNITE-RBE-_F A
i A=+—RALFE - EFgEREHNRER"
HA AR - RERIFNTEZ (BRBIIFNTES)
MBINEZ REAKEZEASERAN EF7
BEINEMEFRANALFER - SEEREE
TE-NFZAZT-HLEFEHRESEEE X
BEN TR -BREABRFRTENEENHETESTH
BAMBTERIRZ REC

Attendance
Name of Directors EEHSR B IR &
Executive Director HITES
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PREZE A 11/(11)
Non-executive Directors ETES
Mr. LIAO Jintian (Chairman) B#REE (F8) 11/(11)
Mr. WU Qi RERE 11/(11)
Mr. FONG On Shek FRARE 11/(11)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. LUK Simon BESR o0& 1/(11)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin DB 2+ 11/(11)
Mr. HON Leung kA 11/(11)

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at
31 March 2019. All of them are free to exercise their individual
judgments.

BEERFM A-T-NF=A=+—0 EEE
MBI TR R KRR - 1 S T (B
ST B o
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company in August 2017. He reports to the Chairman and
executive Director of the Company and assists the Board in
functioning effectively and efficiently. He has taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
31 March 2019.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LIAO Jintian, Mr. LUK Simon
and Mr. HON Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
committee held two meetings to discuss remuneration related
matters. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin el
Mr. LIAO Jintian B iR
Mr. LUK Simon (e
Mr. HON Leung Emik

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and executive is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration.

7t
yita
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2012. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LIAO Jintian, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU
Xiaoyin, is the chairman of the nomination committee. During
the year ended 31 March 2019, the committee held one meeting
to discuss nomination related matters. The number of meetings
attended by each committee member during the year ended
31 March 2019 is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets
indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period in which
the individual was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Eillaes)

Mr. LIAO Jintian BESREE
Mr. HON Leung Bon kAt
Mr. LUK Simon PER AL

The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Procedure and Process for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Director(s) including independent non-executive
Director(s) in accordance with the following procedures and
process:

i. ~ The nomination committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;

TR _F-ARY-RABZEEK
BRREABEARLT BRAEE BERELEENRRE
L -BBEALTARAZEGIFR -RBE_T
—NFE=ZA=T—HLFE ZESLRT - Re#H"
NemBBRREE - SZBENERBE_F N
FZA=T - HLFEHREERZIREHERTR -1
FABFERRENATREEZE KB HEMETT

ERLIBZRE

Attendance
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1/

-
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1/(1)
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The nomination committee may consult any source it
considers appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party agency firm
and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects, amongst others, of gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business
is involved;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The nomination committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third party reference checks;

The nomination committee will consider a broad range of
candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of
contacts;

REZEENDERIES BIREARA B AR
RREENERRR TJZZDIEEE$E’HE%‘J§
T EZTRERRNEEMRRNEZSE LE
EEE(BRETRR) THEZE:

(@) BTHWNZELE EPEEMER Fik X
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Vi.

vii.

viii.

ERERBE

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the

recommendation to the Board for appointment;

The nomination committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

The nomination committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the nomination committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.

Board Diversity Policy

The

Board has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve board

diversity through the consideration of a number of factors and

measurable objectives,

including but not limited to gender, age,

cultural background, educational background, skills, knowledge

and professional experience. All Board appointments will be based

on merit,

and candidates will be measured against objective

criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The

Nomination Committee has the delegated responsibilities to

monitor the implementation and review the board diversity policy

and report to the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2019, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Mr. HON Leung kA
Mr. LUK Simon BER 254
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin BlEE i+

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2019.

EREEE
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company only held one
general meeting, i.e. the annual general meeting. The attendance
by each Director at the annual general meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the following table.

Mr. LIAO Jintian BHREE
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PRE&ZTE
Mr. WU Qi REEE

Mr. FONG On Shek ARAEE
Mr. LUK Simon PER 204
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2 2+
Mr. HON Leung IR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

BRERRE
REBEE-T-NF==A=T—"HLEFE ARAH{EF
T—RBERAE BRRBFAE - REEFNHBE_
- NFZA=ZT - HLEFEHERRBFAREER
BRT&R.

Attendance
R E
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
ﬁ__\%ﬁﬂ:\‘éxmhb
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 March 2019, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

BB B =
HEZZ-NAF=ZA=+—RHILFE INEZBEF

TEEEAMESMERARMARERHEZ RS R
EN/EBRZERERIRINMT

HK$
BT
Elite Partners CPA Limited MTEEgstMmEBRERA R
— Audit services —BIZIR 460,000
— non-assurance services —EBEZ RS -
460,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BEEYHHKBRRZ2ER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 47 to 52.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

EXeNEARFHREAKREGAVMBRR AL
WHERGAVBRRIDBREEVIRE R ER S ER
BE-BEFENTHERMSTEEEGAVBHRR T &
BN ZBMFATEREFMEEMERARARASE
BiGReBRRcBRETEH 2 BRANFITES
528 2 B AZBEN R E o

REREE = K E b B

BT
EFeAERREFEERABYNRREIEAIBE
ERGZEBEA-ERERERS EHRRERR
BERELMARBEZRG UWEERAR - BENBERZ
RRERERANMEZERSRREEZR R EIE R ZE
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Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing
its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on

the effectiveness of these systems.

[E B AR 2R
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VTEHERMNERKB BEREZEGXREZTTERLE
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

(i) Control Environment

The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2019, The Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 27 June 2019 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general
meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Code requires the Company to have a dialogue with
shareholders and it is the responsibility of the Board as a
whole to ensure that satisfactory dialogue does take place. The
primary communication channel between the Company and its
shareholders is through the publication of its interim and annual
reports. The Company’s Registrars serve the shareholders with
respect to all share registration matters. The Company’s annual
general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The directors and management
of the Company are available to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
director. Details of the poll voting procedures and rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes details of the procedures and the timetable of
proposing appropriate candidates to stand for election as directors
at annual general meetings, and relevant details of proposed
resolutions, including biographies of each candidate standing for
re-election and whether such candidates are considered to be
independent.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the members of
China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 53 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March, 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters

Valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity investments
through profit or loss measured at fair value categorised
as level 3

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s unlisted equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$62,035,000
were investment in unlisted equity securities whose fair value
measurements were categorised as level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy.

The valuation of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss involved high degree of estimation
uncertainty, subjectivity and management judgement.

We have identified the valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity
investments through profit or loss as a key audit matter because
the availability of financial information is limited for these financial
assets and high degree of management judgement was required in
determining the assumptions to use in arriving at the unobservable
inputs.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the
following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We assessed the appropriateness for the selection of the
valuation technique used by management based on the
market practice and our knowledge of the nature of the
financial assets;
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. We evaluated the judgement made by management in
determining the key assumptions, including credit spread rate
and volatility, by comparing the supporting documentation to
external market analysis, the market practice and our industry
knowledge. We also performed an independent sensitivity
analysis to evaluate those assumptions applied to the
valuation model for calculating the fair value of the financial
assets; and

. We checked the mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow model prepared by management via reperformance.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it FHERT FHET
Gross proceeds from disposal of listed HELMESZ
securities FTiSsRIB 4258 56,096 295,087
Revenue U 38 8 95 907
Net realised loss on disposal of HEUAFEEFTA
equity investments at fair value through BRE2RAEEZ
profit or loss BEREERFE (26,172) -
Net unrealised loss on equity investments at AR FEF ABREZ
fair value through profit or loss RARKE 2
FREEFE (48,642) -
Net realised loss on disposal of LEREEEZ
financial assets held for trading MBEEZ
BEEIREIEFE - (182,729)
Net unrealised loss on financial assets FIEBEBEZHMBEEZ
held for trading REREBFEE - (923,480)
Impairment of available-for-sale AHEHERE ZRE
investments - (10,050)
Other income E A A 8 6 =
Impairment on financial assets REHKAATEZ
at amortised costs, net WM EERBETRE 2,799 =
Administrative expenses THAX (14,853) (10,708)
Loss from operations BEEE 10 (86,767) (1,126,060)
Finance costs BRI 11 (484) (2,154)
Loss before tax BRBAIE R (87,251) (1,128,214)
Income tax credit A% 12 1,094 86,506
Loss for the year attributable to KATEE AEMN
owners of the Company FAER (86,157) (1,041,708)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic, HK cents — 2R (CBI) 14 (3.82) (46.14)

— Diluted, HK cents — 85 (B1) 14 (3.82) (46.14)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
,é.% 'é“ E ﬁ;_é & E 'fm é E LI& %‘E 43;:2 For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ=—E—hWF=HA=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-h#EF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Loss for the year FAER (86,157) (1,041,708)
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wk
Items that may be reclassified HEAREET D EE B HA -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE
Net loss arising on revaluation of FAREGIHEEREMEEZ
available-for-sale investments EiE R
during the year - (703)
Reclassification adjustment relating FANMHEHLEERERBERB
to impairments of available-for-sale EFOBRAE
investment during the year - 10,050
Other comprehensive income FRHEMEEKE  HRHRIE
for the year, net of tax - 9,347
Total comprehensive expense AATBEEANEGRFAZEAZAE
for the year and attributable to
the owners of the Company (86,157) (1,032,361)
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2019 2018
—E-nE —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k2 FET FAET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Equity investments at fair value INAFEFFABREZ
through profit or loss A E 17 62,035 =
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 16 = 101,012
62,035 101,012
Current assets REBEE
Equity investments at fair value NAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss fR A% & 17 171,176 =
Financial assets held for trading BIEEE U KEE 18 = 180,487
Other receivables, prepayments and H b pE U RIA
deposits AR RIBE RIS 20 70,070 103,926
Current tax assets METRIBEE - 38
Cash and cash equivalents HERIBESEEY 21 12,722 35,408
253,968 319,859
Current liabilities REBEE
Margin payables ERRE & 22 3,884 6,988
Other payables and accruals HiERNRIBRETER 2,684 2,450
Current tax liabilities MEBMIBAG 413 2,294
6,981 11,732
Net current assets REBEEFE 246,987 308,127
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAEE 309,022 409,139

Net assets EEFE 309,022 409,139
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,é.%': é“ E\ZI' z% Hﬁ 5R 13,% For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ=—E—hWF=HA=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—®-nE —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&t FHERT T T

Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital & A 24 112,883 112,883
Reserves Eke] 26 196,139 296,256
Total equity ERsm 309,022 409,139
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BEREEFE (Bx) 27 0.14 0.18

The consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 131 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
27 June 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee

HNESBEZFBIAZERVBRRER_Z— A
FRAZTERABEEESHERRETZ YEAT

IAETRERE:

FONG On Shek

BRE& FEA
Director Director
EE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

|

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share Share option revaluation  (Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve loss) Total
THEE
REEf REBA/
B R E(E BRERRE R (REBR) BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TEn FE R TERT TER TERT
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\FMA—-H 112,883 914,480 2,003 16,039 (636,266) 409,139
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 NEEREANBRE
EAEORHTE - - - (16,039) 342 (15,697)
At 1 April 2018 (Restated) RZE-NFMA—-H
(mE5) 112,883 914,480 2,003 - (635,924) 393,442
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - (86,157) (86,157)
Recognition of equity-settled RUEREENRN A
share based payments ER 2R - = 1,737 = = 1,737
At 31 March 2019 R=2-N1%
=A=t-H 112,883 914,480 3,740 - (722,081) 309,022

57



58

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

P B B B R E B 8 R 2 §
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

REEZSBR

Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share Share option revaluation  (Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve loss) Total
AfHE
REEf REEH/
BA& R EE BRERE " (R&tE#E) aE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEL TERT THET THER THERT TEL
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+fMmA—H 112,883 914,480 395 6,692 405,047 1,439,497
Loss for the year KEERR - - - - (1,041,708) (1,041,708)
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2 EMaE:
Net gain arising on revaluation of FRNREMHAHENLE
available-for-sale investments BREMEEL
during the year REEE - - - 9,347 - 9,347
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FRE {2 E N - = = 9,347 = 9,347
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FR2ENE/ (A 88
for the year - - - 90347 (1041708)  (1,032,361)
Recognition of equity-settled RUEREENRN A
share based payments ER 2R - - 2,003 = = 2,003
Lapse of share options BRELY - - (395) - 395 =
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\%
=B=+-H 112,883 914,480 2,003 16,039 (636,266) 409,139
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F
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,%711_-\ ’é‘ I8 ﬁ )%f = 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2019 #iZ — T —NWF=A=+—HILFE
2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities BRETHRERE
Loss before tax bR AR &S 1R (87,251) (1,128,214)
Adjustments for: BUATIER B A%
Interest income FEWA (2) (7)
Dividend income % 8 U A (93) (900)
Interest expenses FERZ 484 2,154
Net realised loss on disposal of HENRFEEFTABREZ
equity investment at fair value BRI E 2 B BEEEFRE
through profit or loss 26,172 —
Net unrealised loss on equity investment at AFEFABEERZBREAKRE
fair value through profit or loss 375 ''''' AR R E R 48,642 =
Net realised loss on financial assets T—M’EEEZ HMBEE
held for tradng B # I EIBFRE - 182,729
Net unrealised loss on financial # {”E,\ BMBEEYZ
assets held for trading K& PR EEEE - 923,480
Impairment of available-for-sale A ERERE
investment - 10,050
Impairment on financial assets RBEXNATECHBEERBEFE
at amortised cost, net (2,799) -
Equity-settled share-based payments INREEFE ARG BAEM 2 HRFAX
expenses 1,737 2,003
Operating loss before working HEESEHAMNLEEER
capital changes (13,110) (8,705)
Purchase of financial assets held BERBEEBECMBEE
for trading - (276,418)
Purchase of equity investment at BEUATEFABEEZRAERE
fair value through profit or loss (82,622) -
Purchase of available-for-sale BEAHNERE
investments - (31,000)
Proceeds from disposal of HENAFEFABEERZ
equity investment at fair value RAIEE 2 FTS5IAE
through profit or loss 56,096 =
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEREEE MK EEMBNIA
assets held for trading - 295,087
Proceeds from disposal of HERHREEREMBERIE
available-for-sale investments - 41,120
Decrease in other receivables, HEM WA ~ ENFIERES D
prepayments and deposits 20,958 40,906
Decrease in margin payables ERRE & 2R D (3,104) (48,202)
Increase in other payables and accruals H A FE AT FRIB R FERT B AL N 234 92
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,é,% ’é‘ I8 ﬁ )}ﬁ, = 13,% For the year ended 31 March 2019 #iZE — T~ A F=A=+—HIFE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K& %% (FfA) /FEHNRE (21,548) 12,880
Dividend received B AR B 93 900
Interest received B YHE 2 7
Interest paid EARFE (484) (2,154)
Tax paid BERHIE (749) (14)
Net cash (used in)/generated from EEE (FTA) /BB FE
operating activities (22,686) 11,619
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBELEEY (RD) EMFEE
cash equivalents (22,686) 11,619
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUNzBEeMBREEFED
beginning of year 35,408 23,789

Cash and cash equivalents at the end ERZESRESESEY

of year 12,722 35,408
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRBESEEYEHIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances B& RIRTTE R 894 4,149
Deposits at other financial institutions RE M & R 2 17 3K 11,828 31,259
12,722 35,408
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The
Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
19 September 2002. The registered office of the Company
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office
in Hong Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollars (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@A) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
The Group has applied for the first time in the current
year the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Financial Instruments
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Except as described below, the new and application of
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Annual R rt
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

—REH

ARRARZET_FNA=-+ BEREHEST
ML AEREBRAA - ARRRMNE ZTT
—FENATNBAREREBAERSAER LA
(B P ]) 70 o 282 B E AT 9% 2= B2 iz 7 Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & H & & 4
WMERUNBBZ/E RKBHR705 KFHKRE1104

=

zFze°

REBEZIEEBAREERREEEF-

REMBHRRABIRE BARAZEER
HEE

FERAHTERMBREER ([FEY
BREEQ | REBVBHREENZ
& 8]

(a) REFERBEERZHTEBMBRE
HEARBEBUBEEE BT
RAFEE AEEEEREANTHESS
AR ((EEGFMAG)BEANEE
M MELRZERT -

FRMBHREENESRE SERMTA
ERMBHMEELE15%E RETFPARMN
LN

B EXFoN MAFREERAZEHN BB
FBREENREBVBEREER 2EFT
VTEHAEREARAEERBEFR 2HH
RPEAMR B R EGRA B RKR TR
EREATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ EZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ 43):2 Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2019 B#E—FT—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has adopted HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments”, which becomes effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018.
The Group applied the transition provisions set out in
HKFRS 9 to adjust the retained profits or other reserves
as at 1 April 2018, without restating comparative
information retrospectively, for any adjustments to
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9. The
principal effects resulting from the application of HKFRS
9 on the Group’s assets or liabilities are summarised
below.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” introduces a new
classification and measurement approach for financial
assets that reflects the business model in which assets
are managed and their cash flow characteristics, and the
new requirements on accounting for financial liabilities
that are designated at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL").

2. BRAHIERYBREERN (FBY
BHREZU D REBMBREEA
1E&] (#)

(a) REAFERBERZHTEBUBRS
HRRBBMBHREERN 2B (K)

BEBUBHEEEREIF 2@ TR/
AEBRAEFEERANR _-_FT—-N\FTA
—HEIARHAEN ST HEHERZE R
BRELEYESR[EMT R - AKERS
BEVBREERETAE Z BIEMGR
NAER-_ZT-NFHA-BHREEMN
SEMFEE BEARRAT BT EREE
AFSRHEMBEELVHEENREE
BEMARENEI L REN - EREEY
BREENFORHAKREEESBEZE
EYEMAnT-

HEEERYBEREZ DERTE

FEVBHREENESR @R TR BB
BESIA-BFDBRFEN L URKRE
BEEZEBBRARERSRES LEE
BESEBAFEIK([BREEZRATE
SR 2B RBE 2 EE T AREH
HIE -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities (continued)

The change in the classification of financial assets under
HKFRS 9 at the date of initial application on 1 April 2018
is that available-for-sale investments of approximately
HK$101,012,000 as at 31 March 2018 were classified
as investment in equity instruments of HK$101,012,000
as comparative figures in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Based on the Group’s financial
instruments policies, the equity securities classified as
available-for-sale investments qualified for designation
as measured at financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income under HKFRS 9, however,
the Group elects the option for designating these
securities to be measured at financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and measures
these securities at fair value with subsequent fair value
gains or losses to be recognised in profit or loss. Upon
initial application of HKFRS 9, investments revaluation
reserve related to these available-for-sale investments
currently accumulated in equity of HK$16,039,000 were
transferred to accumulated loss at 1 April 2018.

2. BRAHIERVBRSEN([FRY
BHREZU D REBMBREEA 2
&5 (#)

(a) REAFERBERZHITEBUBRS
HRRBBMBHREER 2B (K)

EBNBEHREERFIR [T A/
(4&)
HMBEEELRNFEREZDERSE (F)

RZZ— N\FHA—BEXRERBHRESR
EM ISR EERNFEIR M EENEED
AR _E-NEZA=+-HOHEER
& #9101,012,0008 T H EAERBR AT AW
% %101,012,000/8 JT 3 1E & L R ELFE 5 R
BAEMBHRRARAN-BREAREZEHITA
BE DEAUHLEREZREABLREE
BIETABEUGHRELENFIRIET UK
AFEFAREMEARZ 2 THEETE -
A ANEBERETZEEFLFUARQFE
TARMEERSEZHEEETE MRS
BHREATFEAZ ERATFEESNER
BREBEER - RERERESNEREE
Ao BRI M ER Rt EZ S #
ERERUZIRE EMH#1$16,039,000% 7T
RZZT-N\FEOA-—BEBEZRTEHE-
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities (continued)

The following table summarizes the original measurement
categories under HKAS 39 and the new measurement
categories under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s
financial assets as at 1 April 2018:

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

2. BRAHIERYBREERN (FBY
BHREZU D REBMBREEA
1E&] (#)
(a) REAEERBNERZHTEBHBRE

HRRBBMBHREERN 2B (K)

EEMBHREERFIN M T A

(#&)

HMBEEELRNFEREZDERSE (&)

TERBEAR -_ZFE-N\FOA-HAEEE
BUWBEERBEEE S ERFIRNER
B EEMNRREBEE BV REERESR

B FTET 2285

Measurement category and

carrying amount under HKFRS 9

BERUBREEALEIR TN EENRREE

Non-current Current
assets assets
Equity Equity
investment investment
Carrying at fair value at fair value
Measurement category BB EAEIRTH amount under Amortised through through
under HKAS 39 TEER HKAS 39 cost profit or loss profit or loss
RBEE RBEE
EBGER UAFETFA HAAFEFA
FIHRTH BREZ BREZ
FREIE WA RAERE BRAERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FET FET FET FET
Available-for-sale financial assets 41 &M HEE
Unlisted equity securities (note i) FELTRABS (Hii) 101,012 - 79,362 21,650
Loans and receivables (note ii) B RENZE (Hitii)
Other receivables, prepayments H fh fEGRIE - BRI R
and deposits biogra 103,926 103,926 = =
Bank balances and cash RITEBEES 35,408 35,408 = =
Financial assets at FVPL URAFEFABZRZ
HHEEE
Listed equity securities BIEEE 2 LmRAES
held for trading (note i) (Hiatii) 180,487 - - 180,487
420,833 139,334 79,362 202,137
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

The unlisted equity securities that were previously
classified as available-for-sale financial assets
amounted to approximately HK$101,012,000 are
now classified as equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss since, at the date of initial
application, these investments are designated to be
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Related fair value gain of approximately
HK$16,039,000 as at 1 April 2018 were transferred
from available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserves to accumulated loss on 1 April 2018.

The listed equity securities that were previously
classified as financial assets held for trading
amounted to approximately HK$180,487,000
continue to be classified as fair value through profit
or loss because they are held for trading.

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” impairment model

in HKAS 39 with a forward-looking “expected credit

loss” model. The Group applies simplified approach to

recognise lifetime expected losses for all debtors and

other receivables, and expected losses for investment in

securities.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

2. BRAHIERYBREERN ([FBY
BHREZU D REBMBREEA 2
&5 (#)

(a) REAFERBERZHITEBUBRS
HRRBBMBHREER 2B (K)

EBNBEHREERFIR [T A/

(#4&)

HBEEERE (&)

() ERSBAAHEENBEEZHFL
AR 2 3 % 49101,012,000%8 7T 3R 5
RUARFEFABREZRAKRE R
RARTRERBE ZFRENEE
RN FEFABREFE-

R-ZZ-N\FHUA—-BZHEERFE
1 %5 %916,039,0008 T VR ZZE— N\
FUA-BBEAHEEREELRB
BRERAER-

iy EADBAKEEECUKEEZL
A% 7R 3% 75 £9180,487,0007% 7T A A T5
HIEEE EBSERERLATENAE

S o

Bt

BB E B E

B8BTS 1R 22 B S 95% LA AT BE 1 &Y [ T8 58
EERXKIRA MREE G LR L3955
BEELBRIBMEEN -AEERABHES
VA HE BB P B UABR R e EL At B MR IR 2 8
SEHEE REFKREZEYEE-
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The following table shows the effects of transition to
HKFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets
under HKAS 39 based on the measurement category
under HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018.

Amortised cost B SHRK R

Other receivables, prepayments and ~ E# U8 « FEA B R

deposits i

2. BRAHIERYBREERN (FBY
BHREZEU D REBMBREEA 2
1E5] (%)

(a) REAFEERBERZHTEBUBRE
HRRBBUBHREER 2B (K)

EEBUNBHEERFIR [2MT A
(&)

HEEERE (%)

TRV -_F-N\FOA-BBEESE
BB 15 s RO B BB & 5HERI395R
THBEEREAEMBERELAEIRFE
BRINREENTE -

Carrying Carrying
amount under Remeasurement amount under
HKAS 39 as at on transition to HKFRS 9 as at
31 March 2018 HKFRS 9 1 April 2018

RZE-NF R-ZE-N\F
=A=+-H BRBEZEEE mA—-HE#
ERETER B 7% 4R 5 % B 7% 3R 5 % B

E39HR T/ LB 9T A
REE ENE SREE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T THET T
103,926 (15,697) 88,229

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group adopted HKFRS 15 on its effective date of 1
April 2018. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 Revenue and
establishes a five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. In addition,
guidance on interest and dividend income have been
moved from HKAS 18 to HKFRS 9 without significant
changes to the requirements. Therefore, there was no
impact of adopting HKFRS 15 for the Company.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

BB BHREEREISYE [ REEF &R
IR A ]
AEBREAEVBREERE1SHR LKA
HoT-N\FMOA - HBRAZEL - FB
MBEHRELENFISERRBFEGTEF
1858 [Wees | ARRIAFSRE - HIREE
F & Ra WA 1o B R B A
MIESIERE B G ERE18RBERE
BB mEENFESR UEHREEKREKR
BHRAi KRBT EPHERE LR F155
HARNRLETE -

RAFERAZETEMBRSEIZE
AUV EESAEERANFEFERBEFEZM
BRATMA R, AL E FERRAER
BERERTE-
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.
HKFRS 16 Leases’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

2. ERFATEBUBREER ([FBH
BREENREBUBREE 2
155 (%)

(b) EFEMEBERERZHTEBHBRE
HARERMBREEN 2B
AEBIRRERWTIICHEME B K E
B2 ET RIS BB B & R -

BAEMBHREEAZ165 RE
==
RS

BEEPBREENEITR RRaL?
BE (AR BRERE HEHEEN
ZE®) —RESNE  THEEHW

EBMBHREER REZEABENA

FI0REREB G
HEAE285% 2 (B 7T
BERETENE199

HAELEZREMN
BEHELIA®
ATEIERT - BER

HKFRS 10 between an Investor and
and HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement’
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures'
Amendments Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

{E7] HEEE
ERGSTERE28H 2 REEQAFAR
5 BERRN
RS
ERAMBREENZ ERMBIREER
{E=] —E-0fFE
—E-tFEHZ
FEBUE
! R-ZB-NF-A-BHZRREZFEY
GES R
2 RIE_-F-A-BRZERBEZIFES
HESE

P REERHRZERARZEEMEER-.

BTIXt 2 Hal RGBT B EMBRS
ERSN RRABIEEEY BAMEEMAN
AREERIRAEMBREENETIERNA
RAREGEEMBRRETAEATE -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases
HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS
16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale.

HKFRS 16 also includes requirements relating to
subleases and lease modifications. Distinctions of
operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the
classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those
classified as investment properties while other operating
lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in
relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal
and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing cash flows by the Group.

2. ERFTEBUMBREER ([FBH
BREENREBUBREE 2
155 (%)

(b) EEMEERERZHTERABRE
BARBBUBEREER 2B (K)
BB BREERF165 [HE)
BBMBRELAFE16RABHBAR
AEAZRERGRBEHEEH A AL
AR o BBEIE S E R F165 LK
MREBEHLEUE17H (HE] REHR

-
ES

EEMBREENEIGR AT P TS
FrghlEERDHEERRBEE L LI &
AU BRELENFIGR[AETEREER S
REFEMEHRE LR FE1655 A B EEM
MEERDRIERHEEAKRZREMETE

EEMBHREENE16RTBEFES A
FHEEURZRAE - BEHRHERKEES
EEEN REHEEREHEZERB A
MASTRERBE XAABEABRME
HERRBEREEERMHAGB ZRAR
e

EREEEVTIRAATE  RRIZKA (&
T HISMBSLER SN B R AT B ROBE B 1A
B YHMEMNHERBEEMRAEFLRAER-
HEEBVIREANAXNEBERAZ
REFE-HE HEAGHRMNEREER
BEAR (K e ek s EELR
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an
asset and a related finance lease liability for finance
lease arrangement and prepaid lease payments for
leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee. The
application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes
in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or
within the same line item at which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also
applicable to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease
either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$30,000.
A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or
short-term leases.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
In addition, the Group currently considers refundable
rental deposits paid of approximately HK$15,000 as
rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17
applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the
carrying amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to
amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits
paid would be considered as additional lease payments
and included in the carrying amount of right of-use
assets.

The application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above. The Group intends to elect the practical
expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the
Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or
contain a lease which already existed prior to the date
of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends
to elect the modified retrospective approach for the
application of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application to opening retained
profits without restating comparative information.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEBHBRHBE

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CQ”").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for equity instruments at FVPL
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding ant at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group’s interests.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employee are measure at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value

of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control
of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial assets — applicable from 1 January 2018

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory
FVOCI”); (iii) equity investment measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI”); or (iv)
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”").

Financial assets — applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case
all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of
the first annual reporting period following the change in the
business model (the “reclassification date”).

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if
it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.
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mEMBHRNE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Financial assets — applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)

2)

Mandatory FVOCI

A financial asset is measured at Mandatory FVOCI if both
of the following conditions are met and is not designated
as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows and for sale; and

(if) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The financial asset is subsequently measured at fair
value. Interest calculated using the effective interest
method, impairment gains or losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss. Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the financial asset is
derecognised. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss as a reclassification adjustment.

Designated FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument that is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies in other
comprehensive income. The classification is determined
on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)
Financial assets — applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
3) Designated FVOCI (continued)
These equity investments are subsequently measured at

fair value and are not subject to impairment. Dividends
are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and shall not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

4) Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They
are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and
loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
Dividend or interest income is presented separately from
fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in
the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which
a host is an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are
not separated from the host. Instead, the entire hybrid
contract is assessed for classification.
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mEMBHRNE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)
Financial assets — applicable before 1 January 2018

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or

recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the

financial assets.

The Group classified its financial assets into one of the

following categories before 1 January 2018:

1) Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They
are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and
loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
Dividend or interest income is presented separately from

fair value gain or loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are (i) acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; (ii) part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or (iii) derivatives that are not financial
guarantee contracts or not designated and effective

hedging instruments.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Financial assets — applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)

1)

Financial assets at FVPL (continued)

2)

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition
as at FVPL only if (i) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or
liabilities or recognising gains or losses on a different
basis; or (ii) they are part of a group of financial
assets and/or financial liabilities that are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or (iii) they contain embedded derivatives that
would need to be separately recorded.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial asset at FVPL, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify the
cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. They
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
over the year to maturity. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition, impairment or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HEZ—Z—hF=FA=+—HIFE

FTESHHREME (#)

$®MIA (&)

MBELE (#&)

H *fs-e(f*)

ﬁ?ﬁ%é? R-Z-NF—A—BaER (&)

1) ?@ﬁ)\%@ sk I EE (&)

,\ﬁ;ﬁ»ﬁiuwﬂﬁt~Fﬁ7ﬁ%é§§7ﬁjﬁ%ﬂ§éﬁ§
REHEER/BRAFEFTAEBE: ()ZBEE
HBRIAEEREEAAKATRAERAESR
EXAGEIRRERREBA T -
BIE 2B (i) ZEEEREKE
BREEBRBURATERERETERERE
B —HMBEER /LM ABZE
D R(NBEREFTEEBARZIHRARX

PTETA-
i & @%—Iﬁiyﬁm)\ﬁmil/ﬂ\ Bl
%‘IE EXANAEERARFE AR

4)
hid
Zﬁ*é? HRAXTELAHES
Elﬂéﬁﬂxﬂﬁliﬁﬁﬁﬁé”iﬁﬁm)\ﬁm
EIE 5B ARRERIN o

2) FHAEFIHREE

RAEZNMRERIVTEVBKEE FEE
HARENNAEEEEHAE MAKEE
BEALEERANENFEZINY - BET
ERERFBIRIREHK AT E - # AR
AAKMBEBRNEATEIGEE REBEFE
ZRREFE - RIEER R EL A
RELMABBERSPER-

83



84 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
B OB Kk B R £ B 3 B 2 #H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ 43):2 Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2019 B#E—FT—NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)
Financial assets — applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
3) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables including cash and bank balances
and trade and other receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market and are not held for
trading. They are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, except where receivables are
interest-free loans and without any fixed repayment term
or the effect of discounting would be insignificant. In such
case, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
loss. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition over the period
to maturity. Gains and losses arising from derecognition,
impairment or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

4) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are either designated at this
category or not classified in any of the other categories
of financial assets. They are measured at fair value with
changes in value recognised as a separate component
of equity until the assets are sold, collected or otherwise
disposed of, or until the assets are determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in other comprehensive income
shall be reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the
financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities except for financial liabilities
at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL are carried at fair value, with
any resultant gain and loss (excluding interest expenses)
recognised in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair
value changes of financial liabilities designated at FVPL
that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which
is presented in other comprehensive income unless such
treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive
income shall not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss.
Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, all the fair value gain or loss
of financial liabilities at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)

(iii)

incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on
initial recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or
not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases;

they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or

they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HEZ —Z— N =FA=+—HILFE

FTEESHHREME (#)

RTIA (#)
HMEBEEE ()
SR ETE (B
MBEABMFARUAT RS AINDBRFHIEREER:

(i) WBEXZEATERMALEREH:

(i) RYKRERSEXNBBEREZCHMN SR
TEEA % BHRIEHEREHER
Bk

(i) BIFEMBERAENIIEEETAEHITER
IFEBRYHR T REZITAET R

mEA TR MR ES AR ERE
BE /A FER AR

() ZEETHERIABRERSRATRE
RHEEEXRAEIERBERF LR 25
BRER L E A —HE:

(i) WERREBEAXABREERBEARFES
AMETERNEETN Gz —EVBEE
KU BEERMBABE IS K

(i) WEBFE -—EAXRZERAXTETLAR FE
BEAT BERSANURKEER/RA
FEFAABENMBAG RIEZHRANDT
ATATEEERERERERRANTE
TRAABEMBERLEBARK.



mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

Applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost, to which the impairment requirements apply
in accordance with HKFRS 9. The Group measures a loss
allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e.
the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected
life of the financial instrument. A cash shortfall is the
difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
entity expects to receive.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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mEMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(if)

(iii)

it has a low risk of default;

the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that

a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data

about the following events:

(a)

(b)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HEZ—Z—hF=FA=+—HIFE

3. XEETBREE (&)

£RIA (%)

BB BHEEERFIRNETHHELEERAM
HE A HEE (&)

8 -ZF-NF—H—HEHF (&)
EEERR

WEEATER NERHTABEAAEEEE
[ B

(i) HEHRBSRIK:

(i) BERAERHANERYENEBITEANR
ERBZEME R

(i) EEMEEKEZRETNEZEHAEET
*Hﬁﬁﬁ 1&153&/\@1?’ i\’]ﬁui/ sE5F
-

HEE—HRZHFHHMBEENGTRKE
EREBEEXRIMNEE AMBEERBEREER
BE-HREECERENEREREENTEN
MR B R BUR -

(@) BITARBRABEEANMBERE-

(b) BRAK MIBRIEE -

AANERARERABRAMERZHED

BXEKNEAmAERALHERAT
TERNEBE-

<
A OF
30 3% i}

B A

(d) BRAKAIRERAREREMBUBES-

() HBHT5EENE RIS E BN % -

() RNAIRMEELEFEEBEBZRBHNEE
RELETHHMBEE-

89



90 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
B OE K B E £ B AR 2 F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%éﬂji‘%iﬁ 43):2 Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2019 B#E—FT—NF=A=1+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
The Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying
amount based on historical experience of recoveries of similar
assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.

Applicable before 1 January 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there is objective evidence that financial assets,
other than those at FVPL, are impaired. The impairment loss
of financial assets carried at amortised cost is measured
as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flow discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Such
impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods through
profit or loss when an increase in the asset’s recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired,
a cumulative loss comprising the difference between
its acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and
amortisation) and current fair value, less any previously
recognised impairment loss in profit or loss, is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect
of available-for-sale equity instrument are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value
of available-for-sale equity instrument after recognition
of impairment loss is recognised in equity. Reversal of
impairment loss of available-for-sale debt instruments are
reversed through profit or loss, if the increase in fair value of
the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

For an available-for-sale financial asset that is carried at cost,
the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss shall not be reversed.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. For the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts and
bank loans, if any, which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of an entity’'s cash managements are also
included as component of cash and cash equivalents.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties BEAL
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties HUEFVBRENS BEALTBETINXAAE
include a person and entity as defined below: ZIEANEEE:
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (@) MBI TAL BIZALTHEZALZAR
related to the Group if that person: REKBEARNEEGHE

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) EHIHEEIEHARE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; (i) HAEBBEEAZE N

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (iiiy BARAIKARAEARINBERER
the Company or of a parent of the Company; AB:

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any (b) 1|J1??/\T§|J B EEERAEE (2ERE
of the following conditions applies: BB

(i) the entity and the Company are members of (i) ZEBEAQTER-—%KEXE (A&
the same group (which means that each parent, DA FRARAKBHRFARBEERE)
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(i) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) —"ERES—EBZBEEQAXREE
other entity (or of a member of a group of which the rE (S EBRKERFRIZEEE
other entity is a member); THEBRARIZHME ARG ERE)

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity; (i) ERYBEZFEBZALLE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (iv) " BEREF=-FEBZEEGE 55—
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ERBARE=FEEZHE LT

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (V) ZERBEARNARARIEARATNGIBEE
benefit of employees of either the Company or an ERZEERMNMARBI ZEBEZET
entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity FE-MRMEEREAS RERERET
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are FECREECEZTEZTEBER
also related to the plan; g3

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); (vi)y %E %Ez(a)lﬁ?m&z}\j:? i =k

[N
iﬁ
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBERBE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(vii)) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity);

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or a parent of the Group.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Classification of investments in unlisted equity securities:
Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant
influence over those investments since the Group and each
of the investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude
the followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those

investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,

4,

EREMHERGETFTABERZEE
HIR ()

RIELTRAZES RE D -
RIFETRAZBZ ETRELADERBE D
ARG ERR BEARBERAXTEER
HZEREBBONEER-EERA AEEY
ZEREVBEAZE ) ARASHEEZ TR
BHRCAZABBERETE FNJFH:

- AEBRYEZREFNKRMAZEREZ
ExgyREFEREAS:

- AEEYES2ERKHERRE BE2ERK

including participation in decisions about dividends or B EMDIKZRE: &
other distributions; and
—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel - FAEBEVEEZEREIHBEMEBEEAR-

with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered
as the associate of the Group.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

F A 7S 5% [ 3 4 Bt 2 X S /] B IR AR RHE R AT
B UIAERYERREAEAZE N At &%
ERETRER/AEB ZBE T -

RS E S -2y
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FEEFEANABNEMEIZMEFTTHBRERK
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The board
of directors of the Company determines the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent professional valuers to perform the valuation.
The financial controller works closely with the independent
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The financial controller
reports the valuation findings to the board of directors of the
Company to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value
of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the
fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7
provides detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets and liabilities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout
the year.

4,
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €T H
Categories of financial instruments SRMIAZSE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

RBEHMERKE  SEe T AZREER
5.é

follows:
Financial
Financial assets at Other
assets at amortised financial
FVTPL cost liabilities Total
UATE RE#HRE
fFABRREK TEZ Hitr
ZHEEE MEEE HBARE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT TERT TER TERT
2019 —E-NE
Equity instruments at FVPL WATEGFABREZRATA 233,211 - - 233,211
Other receivables and deposits HEMERFEREE - 70,070 - 70,070
Bank and cash balances RITRBEE 5% = 12,722 L 12,722
233,211 82,792 - 316,003
Margin payables ERES - - 3,884 3,884
Other payables and accruals Htb A HIBERETE R - = 2,684 2,684
- - 6,568 6,568
Financial AFS Other
assets at Loan and financial financial
FVTPL receivables assets liabilities Total
YN
FABER Eok AHHE Hith
LHBEE FEIR A HEEE nKaE @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAEL AT AL BT
2018 “E-N\f
AFS investments AEHERE = = 101,012 = 101,012
Financial assets held for trading REEB MBEE 180,487 = = = 180,487
Other receivables and deposits HittEW B RS - 103,926 - s 103,926
Bank and cash balances BTN S ek = 35,408 = = 35,408
180,487 139,334 101,012 - 420,833
Margin payables ERGxES = - — 6,988 6,988
Other payables and accruals HithEN B RETER - - - 2,450 2,450
_ . = 9,438 9,438
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. 2FTH (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include AFS
investments, financial assets held for trading, other
receivables and deposits, bank and cash balances, other
payables and accruals, and margin payables. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets which
consists of cash and cash equivalents that are denominated
in United States dollars amounted to nil (2018: HK$267,000).
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis
As HKS$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the USD/HK$ exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in
financial assets at FVTPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Decisions to buy and sell listed securities are rested
with assigned investment managers and governed by specific
investment guidelines. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities operating in 2 (2018: 2)
sectors quoted in the Stock Exchange.

Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group as
financial assets at FVPL were higher or lower by 5% as at 31
March 2019 (2018: 5%), the Group’s profit for the year ended
31 March 2019 would increase or decrease by approximately
HK$7,147,000 (2018: HK$7,535,000).

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual other receivables
and deposits at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €I A (HE)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&)
Cash and bank deposits are placed with financial institutions RERBOIHERDTERRERGFEEF R 2R
with sound credit ratings. Listed securities stated in financial BB ARIEEECMBEESR 2 EMESFH
assets held for trading are placed with custodian, which AEBTEHN BEEERREGEEERE-ZERN
management believes it is of higher credit quality. Given hERSGHFERGFEETA BEEY AR
their high credit ratings, management does not expect any ERZXSGHEFEEEELN -
counterparty failing to meet its obligations.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 R-ZZF-NAEF=ZA=+t—-HWEERAREK
March 2019 FE&BER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TERIRZZE-NE=ZA=T—AREBEARQA
exposure to credit risk based on the Company’s credit policy, FEERRZEELEERRAZ Z2ESEERR H
which is mainly based on past due information unless other TERBOHER (BRIFGHAEBINKARIAT
information is available without undue cost or effort, and ABzHEMER) UREEHEARISE- 278
year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2019. The BRUBEEZRmMAE-
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.
12 month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+ZEA
BHEEFE 2HRAEERER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
1% B28 B3 R ECE
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Financial assets included in other AT AR MR
receivables, prepayment and deposits B FERES 2 B EE
- Normal* —-E&* - 82,960 - - 82,960
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESED
— Not yet past due —RBH 12,722 - - = 12,722
12,722 82,960 - o 95,682

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables, prepayment and deposits is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality
of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

The credit risk of cash and cash equivalents arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

*OBRAEMEWRRIE BENRBEREE ZMBEE
ERAH BEEENBTIUMBEENEERRA
MHEAREREREM WEEELERRER
[EE]-BR BBEENEEEEZRRBEARIR
Rl -

Re kRSB IEERRERISEHFHE
# BEERBAEFNZETAZIKEE"
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet
their payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously
monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is
adequate in management discretion. In formulating their
strategy, management would consider the financing of the
Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating
and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2019, the liquidity
of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall
due or arise.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest
date that the Group can be required to pay, are within one
year or on demand (2018: within one year or on demand).

£WIE(HF)
BN E S A 15 AN S B R BT I & 15 B HARE R AL
THBRGBEERENREE AR ~NEEE

BHRBRZECHEARBEERRSRETAR
gﬂ%ﬁiﬁi/ﬁgg //m@jﬁiﬂ[g"“ °

HEERBDESRBRME HKEIH#L%%&EEQ
SEVEERESRERBERBEMZ KT -
f%@&%ﬂﬁ%%ﬂﬂ%%ﬁ%@m%/EEDZ%‘}%T
UREEEDRIEECREESRECERDTE R
—NE=ZA=+—B FrEBZRBHELE
EHURRER R KL EBFMANRERE
WEESHREEEXINHAAERKREBERGRS
BEITREEFTRDETEE -

AEBEVBABERBENRERKZHRTAOH

TR—FAFRELFEE(ZT-/\F: —F
ARRBRKEE) (REAHAFRERASRE

RALEEELYNZESEAAE) -
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
At 31 March 2019, the Group had following financial
instruments carried at fair value all of which are based
on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

7. RVERE

(i)

LEBSERUAFEFEZXREEHE
BEEAFE

RZZE—NAF=ZA=+—8 A£EEUT
CRMTE HWRAFEERHEZE K-
ERREZFARFEAR:

hierarchy:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Level 1: F—H:
Financial assets at FVPL NAFEHFABGRZVEEE
— Financial assets held for trading —RBEEBECHBEE = 180,487
— listed equity securities — ERARFES 171,176 =
Level 3: BE=4:
AFS financial assets AL EMBEE
— Equity securities —RARFEFH - 101,012
Financial assets at FVPL WAFEFFAEBSERZUBEE
— unlisted equity securities — I ETRAFE 5 62,035 =
233,211 281,499

There were no transfers among all Levels in both years.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

P 118 4 79 4 AR ol S R

AEEETHHEERYBAMEDNER
M RE Y AT A S TRRIEB
SERBEAERMBANT AFENAE
£ (AREME - B A AR RS AR
2 &R
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)

Financial assets

HBEE

Unlisted equity securities
classified as equity
investments at FVPL

GLVYNS RN tat
RAREZFE ERAE S

Available-for-sale investments

AHHERE

Listed equity securities
classified as equity
investments at FVPL

PERIATEHABER
LRARE 2 FHRAES

Financial assets held for trading

RIFEECHBEE

2019

o
HK$'000
7

62,035

62,035

171,176

171,176

2018

—T-N\F

HK§'000
TARL

101,012

101,012

180,487

180,487

Fair value
hierarchy

RVEES

Level 3

Level 3

Level 1

F-4

Level 1

E-1

7. AV¥EE (HE)

() NERERUAFEFEBZAKEYH

BEEQAYVE (&)

Valuation
technique(s)

Significant

EXFT

fhERM BEAALE

Discount cash flow with future Free cash flow
cash flows that are estimated
based on expected recoverable
amounts, discounted at rates
that reflect management's best
estimation of the expected risk
level

AXBRETERERHTUEEE EaRLRE
EOERALRE  DERY
EREHRERRKT &E
iz L =R

Discount cash flow with future Free cash flow
cash flows that are estimated
based on expected recoverable
amounts, discounted at rates
that reflect management's best
estimation of the expected risk
level

AXBRERERERRTHEEE EaRLRE
EBERALRE  DERY
EREHRERRKT &E
iz L =R

Discounted rate that
correspond to the
expected risk level

fHaERERKT 2

HEE

Quoted bid prices in an active ~ N/A
market

ERMSEAE TEH

Quoted bid prices in an active ~ N/A
market

ERMSEAE TEA

unobservable inputs

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TARR
BAgER
NYEZHE

The higher the free cash
flow, the higher the
fair value

=5t
o

BRAL]
EEX

B

>
A

The higher the free cash
flow, the higher the
fair value

=5t
fio

BRAL]
fEEA

B

>
A

The higher the discount
rate, the lower the fair
value

BREEA DYEMN
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HEZ—Z—hF=FA=+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE (&)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i)
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

2019

Financial assets

At 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FWA—H

Loss in profit or loss (note a) RERZEZEE (KiEa)
Transfer to Level 1 (note b) EEREE R (KM5EDb)

NEEERUQAFEABEZASEY
BEEQFE(E)

E=ZRAFETEHFRE
—E-NEF
MBEE
Unlisted equity
securities
classified
as equity
investments at
FVPL
FLETRARS
TEARUAFE
FABRRERZ
RAERE
HK$’000
FHET

101,012

(17,327)
(21,650)

At 31 March 2019 RZTE-NWE=A=+—H

62,035

Notes:

a. Loss in profit or loss relates to changes in fair value of
equity instruments at FVPL held at the end of the reporting
period.

b. An investment (as disclosed in note 17c and 17g)
previously carried at fair value based on Level 3 of fair
value hierarchy, has successfully listed in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Its carrying value was then transferred to
Level 1 measurement.

GES

a. REDRZBEEBEHRFEEZUARFE
SABGRZEATAZATFEESHER-

b. EAREAFESHFI=MEAFEIEN
—ERE (BERHFE17c R17g)EREH
BN LM -EEREEER EREES
— g
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A¥EE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAYE (&)

(if)

(continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

E=ZRAFETEH KX (F)

(continued)
2018 —E-N\F
Financial assets BisEE
Available-
for-sale
investments
AHEERE
Equity
securities
I A3 75
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2017 RZTE—tFMA—H 131,715
Total gains or losses BaBEERE
in profit or loss = E (10,050)
in other comprehensive income REMEEKE 9,347
Purchase = 20,000
Disposal g (50,000)
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—H 101,012
Total loss recognised in the R=ZZE-NFE=HA=+—8
consolidated statement FERGEERRERZ
of profit or loss relating to HEERREEANH
assets held at 31 March 2018 (10,050)
Fair values of financial instruments carried at (i) ¥FAAFEFEZEMIAZAFE

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March

RIE-NAFER-_ZT-NF=A=+—H
B SHR ARSI B AN R B B 15 B & MW 75
BEZEAEREAFERESAER &

2019 and 2018 due to their short-term maturities. ESpS ey SR IAEEER
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8. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income are as

Wik B H A A
AEBEZ Wt M EAMB AT :

follows:
2019 2018
—E-AEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Revenue: g
Dividend income from equity investment LA RAFEFF ABREZRAEE
at FVPL Z R B A 93 -
Dividend income from available-for-sale A ERE 2R BA
investment - 900
Interest income from brokers L4 2 FE WA 1 7
Interest income from bank accounts RITFERZFBIA 1 -
95 907
Other income: i N
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR ZEE 3 -
Exchange gain PE 3 1 e 3 -
6 —
101 907
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
directors consider that these activities constitute one and
the only business segment since these transactions are
subject to common risks and returns. The management
monitors the operating results of its investment business as
a whole for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Given the nature of
the Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Geographical information

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers
as determined by the Group.

%ﬁ
(E—F-NER_F-/NAF=A=F+HILF
JER = EW &¥ﬁ1£15&§¥h2ﬂ
WARBBWA -EERA mmwiﬂ%%x
HRER R E R AR ERE — RE—
EBOM ERBEREEBRERT 2KZS
BUNERERD B RRBFEELRE - ERA

SEREE—DHMNEBME AR HRARE
BOTEEIK-

ﬁ

B N

¢

s
HEgEn

ih & & B
REBE-_Z-AFR-_T-NF=ZA=+—H1t
FE - AEBFRBEBAREAET MAKE
ZHBEREIDRERE Eitt LIt B &E 251K
mREEMMWESTER -

ERAEELLEBHENREER BAEHE
BE AEBYEEHEIEEPETENER -



mEMBHRME

10. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

1.

2018/19 Annual Report
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

10. L& EE

£ W

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTExT FET
Loss from operation has been arrived BB TR (FFA)
at after charging/(crediting): I TIEE&EH:
Directors’ remunerations E=e
— Fees —#e 1,140 1,170
— Other remunerations —Hue 273 277
— Equity-settled share-based payments —DARELEEARD BER 2K 442 -
Total directors’ remunerations BmEEWE 1,855 1,447
Staff costs B TR
— Salaries —¥e 1,503 1,327
— Equity-settled share-based payments —ARBEEE RN BER Z AR 1,295 -
— Provident fund contributions —AHEEHR 49 40
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ BETIXA(TEEESEHE)
remunerations) 2,847 1,367
Auditors’ remuneration % SRH B & 460 420
Equity-settled share-based payments VARG RE 45 B AR 0 A BB 2 A9 3K 1,737 2,003
Investment manager fee WERIEER 960 960
Unrealised loss on listed investments IR E I REREE 31,315 923,480
Unrealised loss/(gain) on unlisted FEEMBEZRERER (Ex)
investments 17,327 (9,347)
Operating lease payments in respect of BEEBAE 2 LEBOMNR
office premise 90 60
FINANCE COSTS 1. BERAE
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Interest on margin financing wholly REREBHEREZ
repayable on demand RESBEFE 484 2,154
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FIEHIER
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FET
Current tax: EHHE:
Hong Kong Profits Tax: ERENEH
Over(Under)-provision in respect of BEFEBRBERE (BETR)
prior years 1,094 (2,294)
Deferred tax: EERIE
Credit for the year REEZHER - 88,800
Income tax credit FIE/HER 1,094 86,506

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss

before tax using the statutory tax rate for the respective tax

FEBMEAHATERBAERZHRNT KR
R R Ty AR A ) R BB MY~ B SE AT AR B T IR

jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are BEERZEERE:
domiciled is:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
Loss before tax BB AT RS 1B (87,251) (1,128,214)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BAEATEHMERITE ZHIE 14,396 186,155
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR A 32 2 B
for tax purposes (4,418) (28)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenues BERBEWA ZHREEE 1,722 200
Tax effect on deductible temporary RERAMPERERE 2 RGETE
differences not recognised (5,166) (154,061)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised *ﬁEWLﬁRﬂWEﬁTEZfRﬁW%; (6,534) 56,534
Over/(Under) provision in respect BAFEBBEREE(BETR)
of prior years 1,094 (2,294)
Tax credit for the year FEMEESR 1,094 86,506

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%)
of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

BB T BB TR W E F FE 2 14 5t T B A A
16.5% ( —Z— )\F :16.5% ) Z Rt & -
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13.

14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$86,157,000 (2018: HK$1,041,708,000) and the weighted
average number of 2,257,666,000 (2018: 2,257,666,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options since their
assumed exercise would result in a decrease in loss per
share for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the
Company during the years are as follows:

13.

14.

15.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

8=}
EEZTHBARNBE_ZT-NFR-_F-N\F=
A=1T—HLEEEZRE-

TRER

BREARBEBEDRBEADAEE AREE
1886,157,000/8 7t (=% — /14 : 1,041,708,000
ABT)RAFEE ETEARME TG H
2,257,666,000/% (=% — /\ % : 2,257,666,000

B -
S5 5 SR 4 2 2R R R ) AR 7T

F ARBRREETESEBRHE_T-LEFR
TE-N\F=ZA=+-RIFEZEREERD -

EERTEBREHEEME

(a) E=E
ARERNRKQRIENZHESBEINT

2019 2018
—E-AF —ET—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FE T
Fees we

Executive directors HITES 360 360
Non-executive directors EMITES 420 450
Independent non-executive directors B IFHITES 360 360
1,140 1,170

Other emoluments H i B &
Basic salaries and other benefits EAXF & RHMEF 260 260
Employee share option benefits EERRERT 442 -
Retirement scheme contributions RORAE T FT 84 3 13 17
715 277
1,855 1,447

No directors waived any emoluments and no emoluments
were paid to the directors as inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the year (2018: nil).

FALBEENEEAMS TEMNEEX
1 BN 2 DA R 5[ 15 % 90 B8 7 &= (8 2k ¢F 2 0 B2
BeREHBBHEE(ZT-N\F &)
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

15. EERIEBEHEEME (&)

(a) Directors (continued) (a) E= (#)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven ENSERTFER(ZE—N\F:N\R)ES
(2018: eight) directors are as follows: EBZHME0T:
2019 2018
“E-AE ZT-0\F
Basic

salaries Employee Retirement
and other  share option scheme Total Total
Fees benefits benefits  contributions  emoluments  emoluments

EXEe B2 RIREM
we  REMEN  BREERN A Hegsm Wegs

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL TER AL

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee RERLE 360 - 221 - 581 360
Non-executive directors FUTES

Mr. Liao Jintian BRALE 120 260 - 13 393 393
Ms. Lee Kar Ying (note /) MR T (M) - - - - - 88
Mr. Wu Qi RERHE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek (note i) HEREE (Hiti) 180 - 221 - 401 126
Sub-total 1N 420 260 221 13 914 727
Independent non-executive directors BUkYTES

Mr. Luk Simon BERZEE 120 - - - 120 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ABEat 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung BREE 120 - - - 120 120
Sub-total It 360 - - - 360 360
Total BE 1,140 260 442 13 1,855 1,447
Notes: 23

i Resigned on 30 June 2017
ii. Appointed on 19 July 2017

i. R-FB—EFXNA=TRHEHE
i E—tELATNBEZE
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors (continued)

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2018: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2018: two) individuals were as follows:

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

15. EERTEBEHEEME (&)

BE= (&)

XNFRTEEZH S RHREVNER
REZFATREBEARARR REKE QA
ZEBEER 2 HAMIR M — RS HEK
ZME -

TEEEFES
AEEREHERFEET ME(ZT—N
FZR)RADRESR K2 HN L5
DM -EB=ZZ(ZT—NF WE)EAZ
BT

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T FiET

Basic salaries and other benefits EXF S REAMETR 1,891 1,373
Contributions to retirements benefits R K43 i 51 = £ 7%

scheme 47 47

1,938 1,420

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

HKS$Nil to HK$1,000,000 T8 7T 21,000,000 7T

URTIMEeHEE 2 RS HEEARET

2019 2018
—B-AF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TRT

3 3

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2018: Nil).

RAEF [ - I 8 ) 51 E A S B S A %R 3
BEMBAEESERMBRZ RS NE
BAEE(ZT-NF:E)-
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16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

17.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &= —%

L= =R ol

16. A HERE

Available-for-sale investments comprise: AHEHERERR:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Unlisted equity securities, at cost JE T RRARE 5 IR AR = 119,023
Less: fair value adjustment B AT EAE - (18,011)
- 101,012

The above available-for-sale investments were measured at FHAHEEERETIRE

fair values at the end of each reporting period. The information
for the fair value measurement had been disclosed in note 7(i)
in these consolidated financial statements.

For unlisted equity instruments, there was no objective
evidence of impairment (including whether there was a
significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the securities
below their costs).

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the Company has designated
investments in unlisted securities originally classified as
available-for-sale investments to equity investments at FVPL
after the transition to HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018. The result of
assessment and impact are detailed in note 2.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

REHBERKFIEZATF
B2 AEAFEFEZENERZEREY
MR 7)) HEE -

MRIFLTRATAMS LELBRETR (8
RESFLAFVERBARKEHTHRERREK
) e

REMAEEWHEREENFORR  ARAR =
E-NFHA-RBEEREYBHRSENF
R ESROBRAIHEEREZILTES
REEERUNRATFEFABSERZIRAKE - FF
MERRTEF RN -

17. RAFEFABRSERZBRARE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-current FERED
Unlisted equity investment outside EBEBFEINZ I ETRAKE
Hong Kong 62,035 =
Current mE
Listed equity investment in Hong Kong BBz ETRAKE 171,176 -
233,211 -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. AR FEFABZRZBRERE (&)

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The fair values of these listed securities are determined
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of approximately HK$14,470,000 as at 31 March 2019 to
secure margin payables as disclosed in note 22.

Listed equity investments represent the Group’s investments
in listed equity securities that are held for trading. Upon
adoption of HKFRS 9, the Company had designated
investments in listed securities originally classified as financial
assets held for trading to equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss. The result of assessment and impact
are detailed in note 2.

As at 31 March 2019, the net fair value loss in respect of the
Group’s Hong Kong listed investments recognised in profit or
loss amounted to approximately HK$31,315,000, and a net
loss of approximately HK$26,172,000 was recognised upon
disposal of the listed equity investments for the year.

Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the
Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2019, as disclosed
in note 19, are as follows:

ZELTESZATFENRESEREHR A
HMBEEABET HROMF22ERE A&
ER T NANF=ZF=+—HZEEEYD
14,470,000 T2 & F AR FEF ABRERZH
BEEEER ERENRESZERR-

ETBRARERAEERFHEESE L HRAE S
ZRE - REMBEW B RELENFIRR AR
ABRDBEABEREMBEE LHESKRE
BERARFEFABZRZBRAKRE -F S
RRFEFHDARKTE2 -

RZZE—AFE=ZRA=Z+—HB RXEERER
MRZEALIMEBEZAFEBEREFENA
31,315,000 L MR FALE LR AKRE %
R E 18 F 55 4926,172,000/8 7T

AEBFAFHZEIBHEMBRAZS (THIARE
ER -—T-NAF=ZA=1T—HZ10EZAKE (A
MERE19PTINER) ) 2R BT :

Percentage of Net assets
Name of investee Place of incorporation/ effective attributable to
companies establishment Number of share held interest held At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments
EREDNTIER HfAL/ R FERA#A FEERRREAEAL REA AYEER BRATE REEGEERE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
SR-AE CE-0\F OZR-NE CE-NF OZR-RE CETNF ZR-AEF ST\ Z®-0E T\ OZE-NE DTN
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000
TR TR TER Fin T TiEx Tz TiEn
Peak Zone Group Limited  British Virgin Islands 2,500 2,500 25.00% 25.00% 75,000 75,000 (39,425) (34,050 35,575 40,950 2,626 1,901
(note a)
Peak Zone Group Limited ~ £ERZES
t////# Ha /:
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 28,000 28,000 28.00% 26.00% 20,000 20,000 (12,440) 2,512 7,560 22,512 7432 16,085
(note b)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ XBR%EE
(With)
Amuse Group Holding Cayman Islands - 1,500 - 15% - 9,000 - 12,650 - 21,650 - 10,595
Limited (note ¢)
AHEERRERARA AEXS
(Hite)
Wingate Holdings Limited ~ Samoa 3,000 3,000 30.00% 30% 15,023 15,023 3,876 877 18,900 15,900 1,300 97
(note d)

Wingate Holdings Limited ~ EED

(Hitd)
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Note:

(@) Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”), a private company with
limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of integrated application. As disclosed in note 4,
the Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Peak Zone.
Accordingly, investment in Peak Zone has been classified upon
initial recognition as financial asset at FVPL (2018: available-for-
sale financial asset).

(b) Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and
asset management.

(c) Amuse Group Holding Limited (“Amuse”), a private company
with limited liability, is a Hong Kong-based toy company which
principally engaged in design, marketing, distribution and retail
sales of toys and related products. As disclosed in note 4, the
Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Amuse.
Accordingly, investment in Amuse has been classified upon initial
recognition as a financial asset at FVPL (2018: available-for-sale
financial asset).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, dividend of HK$900,000
was received from Amuse.

On 31 May 2018, Amuse has successfully listed in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Its value of HK$21,650,000 has then
transfer to listed equity investment at FVPL.

(d) Wingate Holdings Limited (“Wingate”), a private company with
limited liability, is principally engaged in provision of money
lending business. As disclosed in note 4, the Group has not
been in a position to exercise any significant influence over
the financial and operating policies of Wingate. Accordingly,
investment in Wingate has been classified upon initial
recognition as a financial asset at FVPL (2018: available-for-sale
financial assets).

Hiat -

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HEZ —Z— N =FA=+—HILFE

17. AR FEFABERBRZBARE (&)

Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak Zone |)&—
RUAGBREARR - ENBABIEZHERM
ERERRIER - B 4TI B AN E B E Y
Peak Zone 2 B 6 R A& & BUR TR A E AR E

E It A Peak Zone 2R E R B XAERRNEA
NATFEGFABERZMBEE(ZT—N\F: 1
HEEMBEE) -

Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent
Alliance | v—%ﬁ)ﬁﬁﬂ&é@"ﬂ)&ﬁﬁ%@ﬂ
FERERFH CHESFRHEARREHEE
EIRo

BEREEZERERAR (AR B—RLAFTR
BERARBEMARAR TEBUERF Z#H-
DERTET A RAAREER o WA 4P EE -
AREYREAUROMBERELERRITEEMNE
FEN R RARZBRERNLEIR IR
RARFEFABRRZMBEE (ZF—\F:
AHEEMBEE) -

RBE-_Z-N\E=ZA=+—HLEE BAEN
U BX A% £.900,0003% 7T °

RZBE— N\ERA=Z+T—B BUERIEETEH
AR e H{B{E21,650,000/8 ST B R & K
EREN AT EFABREZ FTRAKE-

Wingate Holdings Limited ([Wingate | ) & — X &
ABREERT TERFREREEL - HWH
FEAFT I EE - AN B W ¥ Wingate 27 BF 75 & &
BRATHEEMERZE - FL - X Wingate 218 &
RERABERRSBEAURATFEFABEER TS
BE(ZZ—N\F:-AHEEMBEEE) -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group

as at 31 March 2019, which are also included in the list of the

10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2019, as

disclosed in note 19, are as follows:

Place of
Name of investee company incorporation
BERENAER AR ER 3L 4 B

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited Bermuda
(note e)
PEEIXNEEERAR (fite) BEHE

WLS Holdings Limited (nofe f) Bermuda

EEZRERRAE (M) BRE

Amuse Group Holding Limited Cayman Islands
(note g)

EREBERERAR (Hitg) RERS

Power Financial Group Limited Bermuda
(note h)
EReREEERAG (Mih) BRE

China 33 Media Group Limited Cayman Islands
(note i)

hE--EREEARAR (HH) HEHES

China National Culture Group Limited ~ Cayman Islands
(note j)

PEEZCEXREEERAT HEHE
(H3tf)

China Jicheng Holdings Limited Cayman Islands
(note k)
PEERERERDA (Hitk) REES

Number of
share held

FERG#E

127,870

512,070

112,500

120,010

374,122

490,010

169,450

Percentage
of interest
held

gy &

Bl

4.66%

3.56%

11.25%

4.31%

6.50%

4.99%

4.21%

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

AEBR T NF=ZA=+—"HFRFEZTE L
MEAZBLE (M ARNEEHEEZE_ZT—NLE=A
=+ —HZ10EZAKE (K F19FTHEE) ) 2

HBEMT:

Accumulated
unrealised

holding

gain (loss)

arising on

Cost  revaluation
EBEEL
ZHRER

BREH

RE (B8)
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL FEL
37,543 (10,435)

77,688 (56,181)

9,000 7,313

38,437 (25,836)

49,618 (38,395)

11,427 (646)

21,804 (15,291)

Market Value

e
HK$'000
T
27,108

21,507

12,601

11,223

10,781

6,603

Net Assets
attributable

to the
investment

RERH
BEFE
HK§'000
TER
23,899

25,921

7,946

62,253

28,573

19,424

Dividend
received/
receivable
during
the year

ERER/
RS
HK$'000

TRR
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the
listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual
report are as follows:

()

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (“China e-Wallet”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 802). China
e-Wallet is principally engaged in the provision of biometric
and RFID products and solution services. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2018, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of China e-Wallet was HK$46,754,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK1.70 cents. As at 31
December 2018, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to the owners was HK$512,809,000.

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) is incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed on Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 8021). WLS is principally
engaged in the scaffolding and fitting out services, management
contracting services and other services for construction and
buildings work, money lending business, securities brokerage
and margin financing and securities investment business. For
the year ended 30 April 2018, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of WLS was HK$109,788,000 with basic
and diluted loss per share of HK$0.848 cents. As at 30 April
2018, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to the
owners was HK$727,256,000.

Amuse Group Holding Limited (“Amuse Group”) incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
8545). Amuse Group is principally engaged in financial services
business, money lending business and assets investment. For
the year ended 31 March 2019, the audited consolidated profit
attributable to owners of Amuse Group was HK$15,121,000 with
basic and diluted gain per share of HK$1.58 cents. As at 31
March 2019, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$70,632,000.

sz

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

17. AR FEFABERBRZBARE (&)

REFHEERELTARBIBNEZFR ZFAF
ZEBRMBEERBEROT

()

TEEEXNERARAR ([FEERKRBER
SEREM AL - B MOBE AT 2R BT (BRADASR -
802) - PEIEEE BN FRMLEYBA R IHHE
A (RFID)E@REBATERRE -BE_F—N
FT_AZT - BULUBRFEFE FRERESA
R E AR A BIE /46,754,000 7T B E
AEHEERBIT0BW-R_F—-N\F+_H
=t—H HEBEAABGEERERCEERER
512,809,000/ T ©

ERERAERAR (DEEER]) RHASES M
RIA— BERCITRAREFEZERAA
HBRMREABMEXIMARAR LT (RHR
5% :8021) EEIERFENFRUEERES
IRMRRERBRERE ERAORBERE
iR XK EEXE BHELLRFEREA
UNEEHREE - HE-_T—\FNOA=1+H
IEFE EREAREBABGEERRAEBIER
109,788,000 7T - & I% & AN & #8 E5 18 £0.848
BL-R—ZT—NEFNA=1+H HEABABHEL
EBixir e AEFERT27,256,0007% 7T ©

AERERERERAR ([EHREE])  ARHAS
HEAMKIZERAR EROREBHEAR
SHAERAR L™ (BRHAE:8545) - HiHEE
FEREMERBEL RNEEBREERE-R
BHE-_Z—NF=ZAZ+—RALFE AHRER
BE ARMEEZEAEF A15,121,0007 7T -
BREAREEENB158BL-R_TE—N&E
“A=1t—"RH BEAEGERKERGAEESE
#70,632,0005% 7T
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(h)

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”) incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
397). Power Financial is principally engaged in financial services,
asset management and investment and money lending. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Power Financial was HK$437,330,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$14.23 cents. As
at 31 December 2018, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to the owners was HK$1,443,927,000.

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33 Media”) incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
8087). China 33 Media is principally engaged in Investment
holding, provision of management services, prepaid card
business, film and entertainment investment and provision of
advertising services. For the year ended 31 December 2018,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of China
33 Media was RMB28,867,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of RMBO0.50 cents. As at 31 December 2018, its
audited consolidated net assets attributable to the owners was
RMB439,916,000.

China National Culture Group Limited (“CNC”) incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 745).
CNC is principally engaged in the properties investment, money
lending and financial services. For the year ended 31 March
2018, the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of
CNC was HK$358,673,000 with basic and diluted loss per share
of HK$3.65 cents. As at 31 March 2018, its audited consolidated
net assets attributable to the owners was HK$292,679,000.

China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“China Jicheng”) incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
1027). China Jicheng is principally engaged in investment
holding while the principal subsidiaries are principally engaged
in manufacture and sale of umbrellas. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the audited consolidated profit attributable to
owners of China Jicheng was RMB18,702,000 with basic and
diluted profit per share of RMBO0.50 cents. As at 31 December
2018, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to the
owners was RMB461,204,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &= % —

(h)

NFE=A=+t—HILFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

Hiaz - (&)

EReREEERAR ([ERER]) RAXRSE
EEMKRIZERAR EROHREEBARH

FTERAR £ (RGO :397) SR EE
NESRRE EEEERREURKE - REZE
—E-N\FF+-_A=+—HLFE BERERZ
A A FEIL 8 F iz 4R & E518 /2437,330,0004 7T
BREARBEEEA1423BWL - R_T—N\F
FTZA=+T—B HMEABRERERGEEEF
8 /51,443,927,0007 T °

TE-—EREEARAR ([FE==FRK]) A
RRASEEEMKRIZERAR EBRORER
BaRGMERRA Ttm(ﬂxf’ﬁﬁ%ﬁ:sosﬂoqﬂ

BRI ENRETREER BHREERYE
BNRER B RRERENREHES RS-

REBE_Z-N\F+A=+—BLLtFE +H
—CZHERZBEARLGREBREABRHARE
28,867,000 ' FIREAR L EHEEERARK0.50
DoRZB-NFF+ZA=+—RH HEEAEER
ERGAAEFERARKA439,916,0007T

PEBEREEZEBERR QA ([PRERBERE
EXD)ARAESHSIMKIZAERAR A
BRORBAEBRERSMBRAR LT (BRHORKE:
745) FEBRRXCEXFENEFHERE
MERREEK - BHE-_Z—/\F=A=1+—8
IFFE - PERBEBRUEEERE ABGEEZSR
£ 5518 5358,673,000/8 7T R EA R B EEIE
BI65BI -R=_TE—\F=A=1+—H H#H
NG EZ RS B EFE /292,679,000 7T

FPEERERERAR (FEEXK]) ARRAE
HEAMRZZERADA -fﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂéé%%
ERXRGHAERAT LM (RHARK:1027) o
EEKREIZRERELER TEFEZMBRARE
ENENERERFEE RBE-S—N\F+=
A=+—BALFE FEAERZERABGLESE
%A% T A AR 18,702,000t FREAX K
BESFNAARKIS0D R_TE—NF+=A
=+t—HA BEABRGKEXRAEEFEAA
R #461,204,0007T °
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18.

19.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 18. FIEEE 2 BEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, REB LM BRAZS ERATEE
at fair value - 180,487

The fair values of these listed securities are determined
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial
assets held for trading with carrying amount of approximately
HK$37,513,000 as at 31 March 2018 to secure margin
payables as disclosed in note 22.

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS
HELD BY THE GROUP

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5 per cent of the
Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as
at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2019

19.

ZELITMEFZAFENIES RS PHEERE
FrsmisE ABET WM T2 #HE - &
EEER T N\FZA=Z+—BZEEEAY
37,513,000 T2 & TRHIEEZE 2 MBEEFER
B EREMRES ZEHRR -

FEERFEIEREZHE
REEPRAEN 1252 0F  AEERER

E-NF-A=t-BEERRAEEEELE
5% 2 TR ERR M&ERD10E&ZKIREE T

R-ZEBE-AEFE=RA=+—H

Dividend/

Interest

Name of investee companies Cost Fair value received

2 WA

EBRENTER B AF¥E REAE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TAT FAT FET

Peak Zone Group Limited (note 17(a)) Peak Zone Group Limited (#/7217(a)) 75,000 35,575 =
China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited HEERNEBERAR (Mit176))

(note 17(e)) 37,543 27,108 -
Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(h)) HEBERMEBBRAR (Hit17(h)) 38,437 12,601 =
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#7:217(b)) 20,000 7,560 =
Amuse Group Holding Limited BREEERER QR (Hit17(c) X (g))

(notes 17((c)&(g))) 9,000 16,313 »
WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(f)) ERZERERDTE (HiF17(1) 77,688 21,507 -
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 17(i))  HFE==EEHEEEFR AR (Hit1704)) 49,618 11,223 =
Wingate Holdings Limited (note 17(d)) Wingate Holdings Limited ( #72£17(d)) 15,023 18,900 -
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (note 17(k)) R EISKIZERBIR AR (H:717(k)) 21,894 6,603 =
China National Culture Group Limited FREBR(CEXEEER DA

(note 17(j)) (MaE17()) 11,427 10,781 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BiZ—Z— G =A=1+—HILFE

£ W

20. HttEWRKIE AARERES

DEPOSITS
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F& T
Other receivables H g W K18 70,031 103,880
Deposits paid =D& 21 20
Financial assets g EE 70,052 103,900
Prepayments T FRIE 18 26
70,070 103,926

The Group recognised loss allowance for other receivables as

follows:

AT RAEEREMEEFRRER ZBEEE:

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

Other receivables H A e Uk 5RIB 82,929 103,880
Loss allowance E R R (12,898) =
Net impairment losses on other receivables £ 1 & Us 71 18 2 BB & 18 F & 70,031 103,880

The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of other

HEWRAZBREEERZBREEZF I

receivables are as follows: ™
2019 2018
—E-hEF —TET-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
At the beginning of the year REH - =
Effect of adoption of HKRS 9 HPWE BV IEMEERFF 2 E 15,697 =
At the beginning of the year (restated) REF (LE5) 15,697 =
Impairment losses, net BB E R T (2,799) =

12,898
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20.

21.

22.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HMEWFRIE BEARERES (F)
DEPOSITS (continued)
The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed LR EEEERNGEERREAEER MK
as “impairment losses on financial assets, net” in the BEREFE] -
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
At the end of the reporting period, the receivable of AR EHI R IR IE4) /70,031,000 7T (=
approximately HK$70,031,000 (2018: HK$103,880,000 = — \4 :103,880,0008 L) IEEBHEH B A
represents the consideration receivable arising from the AIMBEEEFLTRAEEELEZERRE Z
disposal of the unlisted equity investments through disposal ERBREER RERER—FANEE-
of subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable within one year.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1. BERAEEEY
2019 2018
—E-h#F —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FEIT
Cash and bank balances Re RBRITHET 894 4,149
Deposits at other financial institution REMSBEE TR 11,828 31,259
12,722 35,408
During the reporting period, no cash and cash equivalents RmEME SRR RBSSEMW (=N
were denominated in USD (2018: HK$267,000), a currency F:267,0008 ) AE LML IEAEBEE TS
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entity. 2N BB EME-
The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01% BRZEBRFEANENTF001EZ0SE(ZF—N
to 0.5% (2018: 0.01% to 0.5%) per annum and all of them F:001EZF05F) FMBFERRUBERERY
have a maturity within three months from initial inception. R=EAREIH-
MARGIN PAYABLES 22. BENRESE

Margin payables represents margin loans arising from the
trading of listed investments which are repayable on demand.
No ageing analysis is disclosed in respect of margin payables.
In opinion of the Directors, an ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the Group’s business nature.

BNRESAEBELTRAESIBZAREEZER
BRARBLERTDREBRKER - X EAEMIR
EERBEREINM -EFRR REROMEAE
BEBEEMS TBMEINMEE-
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23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 23 EEHEBAME

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the year.

ERRBZEBECEHBABEREERENAFE
ZEREPHIIMT -

Net
unrealised
gain on
financial
assets held

for trading Tax losses Total
BEEEZ
MBEEZ
R IL R FE HIEEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEIT FHET FET
At 1 April 2017 RZE—tFMOA—H 105,419 (16,619) 88,800
Charged to profit or loss for the year 4 AR EF B (105,419) 16,619 (88,000)

At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018 X —
R-ZE-N\FMA—H
FARBERR

Charged to profit or loss for the year

At 31 March 2019

R-ZB-hF=ZA=+—H

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$437,698,000 (2018:
HK$401,200,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses for both years. Due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. All unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary difference of approximately HK$312,499,000 (2018:
HK$286,522,000) arising from the net unrealised loss on
financial assets held for trading. No deferred tax assets have
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised.

RS HAR A5 R R E A AT 8 R 2R s F
ZARBABMIEEIEL B437,698,0008 0 (=T
— J\F :401,200,0007% 7T ) ° 30 #& 3t 5% M (@ &F /2
WEBEBEBRIARTEREEE - AR KRR TR
METEE -FMARERARIBE BB TSRS

+
%EIQ

R EHMERE A5SEREERIEER
MBEEZAZEEBERFREEEAZANBY
B = 384 5312,499,0008 L (=& — )\ & :
286,522,00075 7T) ° [ 77~ A AT 88t 0] 308 B
ZREMGERTURFEIR  WARERA BT
REREEERELEHIBEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. |
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.05 each
BREE
0.05%8 T2
ZERHE
‘000 HK$'000
TR TET
Authorised: JEJE
At 1 April 2017, R-ZE—tFWMA—RB —T—NEF
31 March 2018 and 2019 kR=ZZE-AFE=A=+-—H 24,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRHE -
At 1 April 2017, R-ZE—tFmMA—A-
31 March 2018 and 2019 ZE-NERZB-HF
=H=+—8 2,257,666 112,833

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

25. BEIRESE

Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share

options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of

goods or services provided to the Company.

AREBEERESS ([ZFAEDDRER-F
—ZFNAZTNAEBBZIRERTUERS £
BEMDTMEETRAERERREAE RIEZ
B ARFEEEURAERER (BEAR
FAIREMBARIER)RTARBARRRNZ
B LN RARAAERIRE =T R L

B AERRTARRNEY IR -



2018/19 Amnual Report 14
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,ﬁﬁ-\élﬁ\ji%iﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2019 #iZE — T~ A F=A=+—HIFE

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 25. BRELTE (&)

At 31 March 2019, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was 405,000,000 (2018: 225,000,000), representing
approximately 17.94% (2018: 9.97%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% (2018: 10%) of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Details of options granted to consultants on 7 March 2019 are
as follows:

7 March 2019
Immediate

Date of grant
Vesting period
Exercise period 1 year from the date of grant
Exercise price HK$0.050
Details of options granted to consultants on 9 November 2017

are as follows:

9 November 2017
Immediate

Date of grant
Vesting period
Exercise period 2 years from the date of grant

Exercise price HK$0.085

RZFE—NAFE=ZA=+—H8 ZFEETHER
R R B ARITEERERT P RORDEE &
405,000,000/% (=% — J\ 4 : 225,000,0004% )
HERARAE BEBITRND Z417.94% (==
—N\F:9.97%) c Z=r EI A& 2 BREFT S &
Z R BEIEAREAR D RIRE B SR RE
WEEHTBRBBAQABEEHTRG Z210% (=
Z—N\F10%) REM—FEETRAETE
AIMERNA LT ZEBREMY R 2BETRETENT
BB EREARRBREE LA NEMR
BEYTSBAARRBEETRN 21% °

BREARBEHBHE2IBR I HESHERE
1AM T UAER - BERETAELEERERD S
BEREBAHAE —ERF ILEAHBERITE 1T
BEHESFCET HTABERTIZERE ()
BRORZE BB ZKTE: (i) RONREERL A
Al B & % B 2 PR TE K (i) R 2 HE -

RZZT-NAEF=ALARTEMZBREFBN
T

s qunl =Rt “E-NF=AtH
&7 & B Il
I HR RELBEHE—F
TEE 0.0507% 7T

KT tFT— ANEET B2 MRS
M

B BH —T—+H+—ANAR
55 /8 B B A
771 A R B HA R WA
T (E 0.085/8 7T
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following table discloses movement of the Company’s
share option granted on 7 March 2019 during the year:

25. ERERT & (&)

TEBEARTR-F-—NF=ALAHFHIH
R Py 2 B

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ET-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT T

Outstanding at the beginning of the year ~ RF ¥ & K 171F 225,000 188,000

Lapsed during the year FRBRK - (188,000)

Granted during the year FRERH 180,000 225,000
Outstanding and exercisable RERBARITERA TITHE

at the end of the year 405,000 225,000

No share option was exercised during the year ended
31 March 2019. Accordingly, no weighted average share price
at the date of exercise presented.

The fair value of share options granted on 7 March 2019 and
9 November 2017 were calculated using Binominal Option
Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

RBE-2-NFZA=+—BLFEBEIR
B BB T 1T 6 Bt - SO 9 2 BB AT 6 B 2 DA
TR -

RZB-NE=ALtAK-_Z—tF+—HANHE
REZBREAFEDER -—BAHEEERN
AE-ZBRRERZEABBAT:

7 March 9 November —N&F —LtF

2019 2017 =H+tH +—ANA

Fair value HK$0.0098 HK$0.0089 NFE 0.00987% 7T 0.0089/% 7T

Share price HK$0.0480 HK$0.0850 f& & 0.04807% 7T 0.0850/% 7T

Exercise price HK$0.0500 HK$0.0850 1TEE 0.0500/47C  0.0850/% 7T

Expected volatility 58% 113% T8 HA R 18 58% 113%

Expected life 1 year 2 years TEHIF 53 —F M

Risk-free rate 1.468% 1.029% [ g2 ) 2= 1.468% 1.029%

Expected dividend yield Nil Nil TE HRR B R i i
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical BEREDEBRERRNRAANBE—F (=

volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 1

year (2018: 2 years). Change in subjective input assumptions

could materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group recognised the total expenses of HK$1,737,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$395,000) in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

— N\ ﬁﬁﬁ)Zfo‘;FEE;&’fPa#ioiéﬂmi\ﬁ

SHEB

REEREE—

NP EGEFEREATE -

— L= R |- R

ViGN ﬁ&ﬁZﬁ%Hﬂ%ﬁE?ﬂ%@ B 21,737,000/ 7T
(=—Z— )\ :395,000/% 7T ) °
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26. RESERVES 26. f#E
Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share option revaluation  (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve loss) Total
THHE
REEfR RERAN/
B3 E BRERE i (RitER) g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\F0A-A 914,480 2,003 16,039 (636,266) 296,256
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 NEEREEYBRE
EREOR M2 - - (16,039) 342 (15,697)
At 1 April 2018 (Restate) RZZ-\5MA-A
(BE31) 914,480 2,003 - (635,924) 280,559
Loss and total comprehensive expense EREER2ERXEE
for the year - - - (86,157) (86,157)
Recognition of equity-settied BRNEEEENRND B
share based payments LA DE - 1,737 - = 1,737
At 31 March 2019 R=B-1&
=A=1-H 914,480 3,740 - (722,081) 196,139
Note: Wit -

(@) The available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve represents
cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of
available-for-sale investments that have been recognised in
other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to
profit or loss when those available-for sale investments are
disposed of or are determined to be impaired. At the adoption of
HKFRS 9, the balance was transfer to accumulated loss.

(a) AItHERESMHFHFHINRRNE M2 R P
BRZABLERENEMMELZRFAESER
BER- EHENFAHBERBERUETAHLE
REWTERER EFEFeENI»HEEER -1
RAEBMBRERA LR BRDBEER
FHEE-
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,ﬁﬁl: ’é‘ /E]J' ﬁ% ﬁ 43):2 Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2019 B#E—FT—NF=A=1+—HILFE
26. RESERVES (continued) 26. f#fE (&)
Available-
for-sale Retained
Share investment earnings/
Share option revaluation  (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve loss) Total
e REER/
REE BRERE REEHREE (RitER) b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL FHL THET FEL THEL
At 1 April 2017 RZB—tEMA—H 914,480 395 6,692 405,047 1,326,614
Loss for the year rEEBE - - - (1,041,708) (1,041,708)
Other comprehensive income: AZEYE:
Net gain arising on revaluation of ERREHIHRLERE
available-for-sale investments MEEZERFE
during the year - - 9,347 - 9,347
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FREM2HEKE - - 9,347 - 9,347

Total comprehensive income/(expense) FRzENE/ (BX)8E

for the year - - 0347 (1,041708)  (1,032,361)
Recognition of equity-settied BANEEEENRND B
share based payments L WARE - 2,003 - = 2,003
Lapse of share options BRELN = (395) = 395 =
At 31 March 2018 R-E-N§=A=1-H 914,480 2,003 16,039 (636,266) 296,256
27. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 27. BREEFE
Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the REEFEDBRAMBRARRNME 2
net assets included in the consolidated statement of & EF{E#309,022,00008 5t (T — )\ F:
financial position of approximately HK$309,022,000 (2018: 409,139,000 L) B UR ZZE— N F=ZA=+—
HK$409,139,000) by the number of shares in issue at 31 HE 37D 8B 2,257,666,0000% (=& — N\
March 2019, being 2,257,666,000 (2018: 2,257,666,000). £ :2,257,666,0000%) &5 H -
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. BEAERS

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group
had entered into the following transactions with the investment
manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors,
were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business:

China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited

Investment manager’s fee KREKEBER

BEZ-hER-_ZF-N\F=A=+—HIHF
B AEERAEERELEITLATRS &
ERB UERGDHRAKEREXEKEEAREZ
R EGIETT:

PR ARES (FE)BRAF

2019 2018
—B-AF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TR
960 960

Note:

The Company has entered into the agreement with China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited (“EBSHK”) on 6 November 2012, pursuant to
which EBSHK agreed to provide investment management services
to the Company for a period of three years from 6 November 2012,
and extended to 5 November 2018. On 25 October 2018, the
said services has further extended for further three years ending 5
November 2021.

EBSHK shall be deemed as a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the agreement
becoming effective. The maximum aggregate fee to be payable by
the Group to EBSHK shall not exceed HK$960,000 per annum. The
transaction with EBSHK is considered a de minimis transaction under
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreements are in the best
interests of the Company and were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and that
investment management fee are calculated in accordance with
the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
Shareholders are concerned.

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Bet

ARARRZT—ZF+—ANBEBEXKRES (FH)
ERAR([RPEXKESH I HE B PEX
ABHRBERMARAIREREEERE B —ZF
T—AXNARAH=F YEEHE_T—N\F+—
ARAB-R-_Z— N\F+A-+HA FUREEE—
SEH=FEz_"FT-_—F+—AAA-

RzBBEERE FEXRBLAERELETRUE
2113 RBARRBEAT AEBEEGFELZAF T
Bt ABHZERASSHERETSIEIE60,000% 7T - 1B
B EMRAUE4AT6E BRBENXAEBFLFBEENZIH
RAREREBRKFENRZS -

ARRBUFATEERALAREERHAETA
ARRENGE YRARAREEXEBBREPREEEE
BRET MIREEBREBERNRE D BHETE - Wk

BAEZME BRENTFARARNEERETA
B2 HERBERGE M BHRERME5 -
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29.

30.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to
HK$62,000 (2018: HK$57,000), representing contributions
payable to the Scheme by the Group in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2019.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

At the end of the reporting period, the Group was committed
to make the following future minimum lease payments in
respect of rented premises under non-cancellable operating
lease which fall due as follow:

29.

30.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EiZ—Z—NFE=HA=1+—HILFE

RIKERGE

AEBRE CREERESFEGED) RAEE
BREREEZ2MERBET GRS ERESFE
(T5t&]) BB ERARB  EEDRABAY
FREFEAEEZES - RIFFE A&E (BX)
HESSAHERESRA(ERXR (RHIER
B BRI ) 25% Bt EELHR BT HE
BREBAZAHHKE T -—AF A -HBER
Z 1,500 T AR ZH 2 HREERHER- A
DR R AR R E R FE RS-

HE-_ZE-NEF=-"A=1+—HLEFEREALK
HIMER M 2 A 362,0008 7T (=T — N\ F:
57,0008 L) REAEBREBEEZE-_T-—NF=A
=+ —RIEFERRG SN ZHKe

RERERRE
PR EAR A TR - A S ARG AR BB T AT AT
YHERREMEER TR RSEREMRZ
BIEERMT

2019 2018

—E-h#F —ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Within one year —FR 30 90
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_ZENF (BREEEMF) - 30
30 120

Lease is negotiated and rental are fixed for lease term of two
years.

HETEER MM FHAARNBE S EE -
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 31.

129

RAREEMBARZFHE

OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2019 and 2018

are as follows:

Particulars of

RIE-NER_ZE-NF=ZA=+—HZEEZE

MEBARFEHINMT:

Place of issued share
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital Interest held Principal activities
MELREH E B 32 3t B EBRITRAFE AR FTEXK
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
Directly hold:
EERFH:
Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1
FHRERERAF G TER1E T 100% 100% EHE=E
New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1 & investment
holding
MBREBRAF i LmR1B T 100% 100% EFHEERREER
Jetland Global Investments Ltd  The British Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment
Virgin Islands US$1 each holding
EBRLHS AR 100% 100% IREER
BREE1ET
Baiye Holdings Limited The British Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Virgin Islands US$1 each
EBERHS =Rl 100% 100% H®EZER
BREE1ET

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at end of the year or at any time during the year.

As at 31 March 2019, all subsidiaries of the Company are

direct wholly-owned. Accordingly, no details of material

non-controlling interests presented.

ERABARARMBABDEERRERFER
FREEEIBRASEEEFEZIERN &
ERR I EMMBARFEEBR TR

RERLFATMER BREMELRESTH

AR EE 2 BES -

RZF-NE=ZA=+—RB - ARFAEHEL
AYAEER2ERE Rt YEREFI S AR

w2 518
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32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 2. "R FzHBEH

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T F& T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE 1 1
1 1
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, prepayments Ha e RIE AN RERES
and deposits 35,482 49,046
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U5 B B 1 R k8 272,564 342,781
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 567 1,718
308,613 393,545
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals BB A 2,654 2,408
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTHI B R R ZkIA 1,647 2,614
4,301 5,022
Net current asset REBEEFRE 304,312 388,523
Net assets EEFE 304,313 388,524
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital &% 7 112,883 112,883
Reserves (Note) (M) 191,430 275,641
Total equity B 304,313 388,524

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June

2019 and signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee

RARZHMBRARER -_B-AFRA-TL
AESSSHERKENE YA TIHALR

REE:

FONG On Shek

RE= F&RA
Director Director
EF EF
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32. XRFzHBHBEHR (F)

Note: HiEE -
Movement in reserves during the year FANEEE
Share
Share options Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
IR 13 % (8 BRERE 2R st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FAET FHET
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—+tFMA—AH 914,480 395 (4,422) 910,453
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZERASZEE
expenses for the year - - (636,815) (636,815)
Recognition of equity-settled TR LA M 2 45 B IR T K
share-based payments - 2,003 - 2,003
Lapse of share options R AR R 3 - (395) 395 =
At 31 March 2018 and R=-ZZB-NF=ZA=+—H
at 1 April 2018 ER-Z2-NENA—H 914,480 2,003 (640,842) 275,641
Impact on initial application of TIRER BB B ®E £ER
HKFRS 9 FOHMTE - - (7,404) (7,404)
At 1 April 2018 (restated) RZZE—-N\FHEA—A
(#&E7) 914,480 2,003 (648,246) 268,237
Loss and total comprehensive FABBERZEASZEE
expenses for the year - - (78,544) (78,544)
Recognition of equity-settled TR LA 2= 4 E IR TR
share-based payments - 1,737 - 1,737
At 31 March 2019 R-ZB-hhE=A=+—8 914,480 3,740 (726,790) 191,430
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

L= =R ol

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NF —NE ZE—+F ZT—RF —AF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT FHT FExT FET
RESULTS £
Revenue gy 95 907 633 2,966 12,187
(Loss)/Profit before tax BREiAT (B51B) EH (87,251) (1,128,214) 436,440 41,222 2,745
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrisfiiEe,/ (Fx) 1,094 86,506 (80,676) (5,532) (2,553)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to PA/NCIEZS DN
owners of the Company B (B518) /&7 (86,157) (1,041,708) 355,764 35,690 192
(Loss)/Earnings per share Sk (E1E) /&BF
— Basic (HK cents) — AR (W) (3.82) (46.14) 17.15 6.31 0.02
At 31 March
R=ZBA=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NEF —NE ZZT—+F ZT—RHF —HF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FExT TET FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE 62,035 101,012 135,715 105,773 143,214
Current assets MEBEE 253,968 319,859 1,465,153 887,522 382,608
Current liabilities mEaRE (6,981) (11,732) (72,571) (8,854) (1,145)
Non-current liabilities FnEEE - - (88,800) (8,104) (2,503)
Shareholders’ fund BRRES 309,022 409,139 1,439,497 976,337 522,174
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